

**Submission** 

# Explanatory Report for the Draft Code of Welfare (Companion and Managed Stray Cats) 2023



## **Contents**

Introduction	.5
1. Why is a code of welfare for companion cats and managed stray cats	.5
2. What will it be used for?	.7
3. Who will it apply to? What animals will it apply to?	.7
4. What would happen if you did not have the Code?	.8
5. What alternatives to a code of welfare (for example, industry administered quality assurance system) did you consider and why are they not appropriate?	.8
6. Are the minimum standards in the code the minimum necessary to ensure the physical, health, and behavioural needs of the animals will be met? Do they reflect good practice, scientific knowledge, and available technology? Please provide supporting evidence. What alternative minimum standards did you consider and why did you decide against them?	.9
Part 2: Cat Ownership	.9
2.1 Handling: Minimum Standard No. 1 – Handling Cats	.9
2.2 Purchasing or Adopting a Cat or Kitten:  Minimum Standard No. 2 – Purchasing or Adopting a Cat or Kitten1	10
2.3 Identification: Minimum Standard No. 3 – Identification1	11
2.4 Introducing a New Cat to Companion Animals in the Home: Minimum Standard No. 4 – Introducing a New Cat to Companion Animals in the Home1	12
Part 3: Food and Water1	3
3.1 Food and Feeding: Minimum Standard No. 5 – Food and Feeding1	13
3.2 Disease and Illness related to Diet: Minimum Standard No. 6 – Disease and Illness Related to Diet	14
3.3 Body Condition: Minimum Standard No. 7 – Body Condition1	14
3.4 Water: Minimum Standard No. 8 – Water1	15
Part 4: Containment and Housing1	6
Part 5: Hygiene and Sanitation1	8











Part 6: Breeding cats	20
6.1 Breeding: Minimum Standard No. 11 – Breeding	20
6.2 Need for Desexing: Minimum Standard No. 12 – Need for Desexing	21
6.3 Pregnancy and Birthing: Minimum Standard No. 13 – Pregnancy and Birthing	22
6.4 Lactation and Weaning: Minimum Standard No. 14 – Lactation and Weaning	23
6.5 Removal of Kittens from the Queen and Supply of Kittens: Minimum Standard No. 15 – Removal of Kittens from the Queen and Supply of Kittens and Cats	23
Part 7: Health	24
7.1 Ill Health and Injury: Minimum Standard No. 16 – Ill Health, Injury, and Distress .	24
7.2 Prevention and Management of Infectious Diseases: Minimum Standard No. 17 – Prevention and Management of Infectious Diseases	26
7.3 Prevention and Management of Parasitic Diseases: Minimum Standard No. 18 – Prevention and Management of Parasitic Diseases	27
Diseases Transmissible to Humans (Zoonoses)	28
7.4 Care of Claws and Coat: Minimum Standard No. 19 – Care of Claws and Coat	28
7.5 Toxic and Harmful Substances: Minimum Standard No. 20 – Toxic and Harmful Substances	28
7.6 Care of Older Cats: Minimum Standard No. 21 – Care of Older Cats	29
Part 8: Behaviour, Enrichment, and Training	29
8.1 Behaviour: Minimum Standard No. 22 – Behaviour	29
8.2 Enrichment: Minimum Standard No. 23 – Enrichment	31
8.3 Training Cats: Minimum Standard No. 24 – Training Cats	32
Part 9: Transporting Cats	33
Part 10:Humane Killing*	34
Part 11: Contingency Planning	35
Part 12: Stray Cats in Managed Colonies	36
Part 13: Welfare Assurance System: No Minimum Standard	36











7. How will the code change existing arrangements for the management of the species or activity in question?	37
8. What impacts will the code have on those people affected by it (for example, benefits, compliance costs, risks)? Which sector/groups of people will be impacted the most,	
and how?	
9. Who have you consulted? What feedback did you receive?	3/
10. Were any significant issues raised about your draft code? How were these issues addressed and if they did not alter your draft code, why not?	37
References	
NCTCT CT CCC	50



## Introduction

Please note: This is an explanatory report for the draft Code of Welfare submitted to NAWAC for consideration. This document has not been issued by the Minister for Agriculture and does not replace the current Code of Welfare (Cats) 2018 or any other related legislation.

Codes of welfare are developed by the National Animal Welfare Advisory Committee (NAWAC). Under section 70 of the Animal Welfare Act 1999 (the Act), the Minister, NAWAC, or any other person may prepare a draft code of welfare. If a specific industry or organisation believes a new code, or an updated code, is needed, they can invest their own resources to develop a draft code before sending it to NAWAC for consideration. NAWAC Guidelines for Writing a Code of Welfare can be found <a href="https://example.com/here-example.com/her

Please note that as such, the draft code released by SPCA in its current form reflects the work of SPCA which has yet to be reviewed by NAWAC.

## 1. Why is a code of welfare for companion cats and managed stray cats important?

According to New Zealand's Animal Welfare Strategy, New Zealanders have strong animal welfare values. Animals play an important part in many aspects of New Zealand life, including as companions. New Zealanders believe that it matters how animals are treated (Ministry for Primary Industries [MPI], 2013).

Cats are sentient animals that are protected under the Animal Welfare Act 1999 (the Act). The Act establishes the fundamental obligations relating to the care of animals and provides for the development and issue of codes of welfare. Codes of welfare expand on the basic obligations of the Act by setting minimum standards and recommending best practices for the care and management of animals. As described on MPI's website, it is important to have codes for different species because, with so many species and situations, it is impractical to cover all standards in the Act itself.

Domestic cats (e.g., companion and stray cats) are commonly found throughout New Zealand. Cats are a popular companion animal, with over 1.2 million companion cats in New Zealand homes (Companion Animals New Zealand [CANZ], 2020). Stray cats inhabit many New Zealand communities. These two types of cats, those that are owned and have a home, and those who have varying degrees of provision of care from people, overlap in the places they are found, contribute to each other's populations, and have people deeply concerned about their welfare.

In all instances where cats are kept or provided care, their welfare may be compromised if their physical, health, behavioural, mental, and emotional needs are not met.

The National Animal Welfare Advisory Committee (NAWAC) considers the relevance of all codes should be reviewed after 10 years (NAWAC, 2016). The codes of welfare are intended to be flexible enough to be



implemented, modified and improved as community expectations, good practice, scientific knowledge, and technical advances allow (MPI, 2023).

Advancements in our understanding of what cats need for welfare have been made since the Code of Welfare for Companion Cats (the Code) was originally drafted in 2006 (issued in 2007) and over the seventeen years subsequent to the first draft, we have learned more about the negative impacts of handling, the importance of hiding and perching, and the importance of reducing stress in diverse settings such as the home, the veterinary clinic, the shelter, places where cats are bred or used in research, testing, and teaching, and where cats live within communities.

We have also learned more about the importance of positive welfare for cats, including the importance of play, relationships with people, and the role of environmental enrichment in providing opportunities for cats to experience positive emotions. This report summarises the current evidence of what is important for domestic cat welfare and demonstrates why we an updated Code is long overdue.

There are many challenges for cat welfare. The updated Code aims to set standards of care that help address problems that impact cat welfare.

Recent trends in cat ownership indicate there is still work to do to motivate owners to desex and microchip their cats. In 2020, approximately 88% of companion cats were reported as desexed, but we should be concerned because this is a decrease from the 93% of cats reported desexed in 2015 (CANZ, 2020). The number of cats microchipped has increased to 49% (CANZ, 2020), however, this still leaves more than half of all companion cats without a reliable means to help ensure they are reunited with their owner should they become lost.

Cats are the most common animal that enter our SPCA centres each year. Cats end up in our shelters for different reasons with many due to result of unplanned breeding or behavioural problems. These reasons are consistent with what we see globally (Alberthsen et al., 2016; Hawes et al., 2018; Lambert, 2014; Marston & Bennett, 2009; New et al., 2000; Sandøe et al., 2019; Zito et al., 2016), and there is a role for an updated code to address the root causes of these problems.

Ensuring behavioural needs are met is an important way to improve cat welfare in the home and in shelters, breeding and boarding catteries, and in research, testing, and teaching facilities. Ensuring a cat's behavioural needs are met can also help address relinquishment to shelters and rescues. A number of surveys have demonstrated that to some extent owners provide environmentally enriched homes for their cats (Alho et al., 2016; Lawson et al., 2020; Strickler & Shull, 2013). However, at least one study has found that owners are not meeting their cat's needs in confined home environments (Lawson et al., 2020).

We have included Minimum Standards for colony management of stray cats because this is a way to reduce welfare harms that stray cats face and reduce the number of stray cats in our communities. Furthermore, a person who manages a cat colony can be considered a person in charge of the cats and therefore, subject to the code requirements. Undesexed males and females in a TNR-managed colony are more likely to be injured or have impaired health (Gilhofer et al., 2019). Reducing the number of unplanned kittens born each year can help reduce the number that end up in shelters or experience poor welfare in communities. Kitten mortality in stray cats has been reported as high as 75% before six months of age, with trauma being the most common cause of death (Nutter et al., 2004). Free-roaming kittens in Israel have been observed to have the highest prevalence of emaciation and thinness, the lowest body condition scores, and a higher prevalence of severe injury or disability compared to adults (Gunther et al., 2018).











On average, 30% of kittens that come into SPCA Centres each year are categorised as not healthy at intake including: Dead on Arrival; Unhealthy not treatable; Unhealthy treatable (urgent); Unhealthy treatable (non-urgent) (SPCA Intake Health Data: Jan 2021-Jul 2023).

The latest report from Companion Animals New Zealand (CANZ, 2020) indicates there are gaps in knowledge of owners providing for the physical, health, behavioural, mental, and emotional needs of cats. These gaps include:

- The main barriers to desexing include the cost of the procedure, not making it a priority, and thinking it is important for a cat to have a litter (CANZ, 2020). Additionally, cat owners are concerned about the process, intend to breed their cat, or consider their cat is too old.
- The main barriers to microchipping include not feeling it is necessary and the cost, or that it is not legally required (CANZ, 2020). Additionally, cat owners do not microchip their cats because they have not made the time yet to do it, or did not realise cats could be microchipped, or keep their cats inside (CANZ, 2020). The primary issue with microchip use is that owners must keep their cat's information updated if there is a change of contact details.
- Only just over half of cat owners think exercise, enrichment, and annual veterinary visits are
  important, meaning nearly half of all cat owners may not be providing management and resources
  that facilitate good cat welfare This may reflect that owners think their cat gets enough exercise
  and enrichment whilst outdoors. Even if a cat has access to the outdoors, exercise, enrichment, and
  annual veterinary visits are essential for cat welfare.

#### 2. What will it be used for?

The purpose of the Codes is to provide guidance to the owners and persons in charge of cats about the standards they must achieve to meet their obligations under the Act. Codes of welfare also provide guidance for owners or persons in charge of an animal that act as a definitive government source of information that can be adapted and shared.

The Code is important for communicating expectations about what cats require for good welfare. The Code indicates what owners and persons in charge of cats must do to provide the care of cats (i.e., minimum standards). The Code also includes recommendations for best practice to encourage the adoption of the highest possible standards of husbandry, care, and handling. Advice is given to encourage the provision of care to achieve a high level of welfare for cats. Explanatory material is provided where appropriate.

Failure to meet a minimum standard in the Code may be used as evidence to support a prosecution for an offence under the Act. A person who is charged with an offence against the Act can defend themself by showing that they have equalled or exceeded the minimum standards in the Code.

Our (SPCA) inspectors are requesting support in promoting more responsible cat ownership in New Zealand. Updated standards will assist our inspectors in educating members of the public and issuing mitigation or compliance notices. Without a more updated supporting (evidence-based) document, it can be difficult to facilitate human behaviour change on the front lines of preventing animal cruelty and advancing animal welfare.

#### 3. Who will it apply to? What animals will it apply to?

The Code is intended for all persons responsible for the welfare of domestic cats, including those kept as companions, for breeding, showing, kept in temporary housing, used in research, testing, or teaching or for



any other purpose. Under the Act the "owner" and every "person in charge" of an animal is responsible for meeting the legal obligations for the welfare of animals under their care. For cats, the owner of the animals may place them in the care of others who become the persons in charge, but this does not derogate from their responsibility to ensure that the requirements of the Act are met. The owner and person in charge of the animals will ensure they meet minimum standards relating to the provision, design and maintenance of the facilities and equipment, allocation of operational responsibilities, and ensure competence and supervision of employees.

#### 4. What would happen if you did not have the Code?

Cats experiencing sub-optimal or poor welfare will continue to do so. The current Code is outdated and does not include enough minimum standards to provide for adequate advice on what cats need for their physical, health, behavioural, mental, and emotional needs.

Our (SPCA) Inspectorate will continue to have inadequate tools to address welfare cases related to cats. The inability to refer to an up-to-date resource that provides information to the owners and persons in charge of these species about the standards they must achieve can result in subjective assessments being made by inspectors and veterinarians, that make it difficult to achieve national consistency in enforcement. It reduces the ability to impact wider industry changes if each investigation is based on outdated benchmarks in terms of minimum standards.

Additionally, not having a more current Code of Welfare for Cats will signal that our most popular companion animal species is not considered important by the government, despite New Zealanders caring deeply about their cats. According to the latest Companion Animals New Zealand survey, 74% of cat owners in New Zealand consider their cats to be 'a member of the family' (CANZ, 2020).

New Zealanders expect that our animal welfare system is effective for all animals, not just those that contribute to our primary industry exports. Companion animals, animals in research, animals in the wild, animals used in entertainment, and farmed animals such as fish, and chickens must receive equal and adequate consideration.

Once the Code is submitted, SPCA will state that the code has been submitted to NAWAC and MPI on its website and will consider making the draft code available for our Inspectorate and for people to view until such time as the Code is progressed.

This will help ensure that people have access to up-to-date information on cat care while the Code progresses through MPI's process, which in SPCA's most recent experience with the temporary housing code and the rabbit code can take a long time. However, until the Code is issued by the Minister, the document will not have any legislative backing.

#### 5. What alternatives to a code of welfare (for example, industry administered quality assurance system) did you consider and why are they not appropriate?

We did not consider alternatives to a code of welfare because the Code of Welfare for Companion Cats currently exists. Codes of welfare are intended to be based on current science, best practices, and technology available as a base for Minimum Standards and Recommended Best Practices. With the current code being seventeen years old, it has become an outdated source of information. New Zealanders regularly rely on national organisations, charities, and local councils to provide the most up to date information and quidance about cat welfare.











Guidance is not the same thing as standards under the Act. As described on MPI's website, MPI "leads and facilitates the management of animal welfare policy and practice in New Zealand." SPCA looks forward to engaging with MPI to ensure that the enforcement of companion animal welfare in New Zealand remains robust.

Our organisation considers that a code of welfare is required to provide information to the owners and persons in charge of cats about the standards they must achieve to meet their obligations under the Animal Welfare Act and assist our inspectorate.

Publishing an updated code of welfare for companion cats will assist in addressing public concern for cats in New Zealand.

6. Are the minimum standards in the code the minimum necessary to ensure the physical, health, and behavioural needs of the animals will be met? Do they reflect good practice, scientific knowledge, and available technology? Please provide supporting evidence. What alternative minimum standards did you consider and why did you decide against them?

In the following section, we provide rationale for the minimum standards in the draft Code based on the current scientific knowledge, expert opinion, good practices, and available technology for cats. The sections below correspond to the different sections in the draft Code where there are minimum standards.

#### PART 2:

## **Cat Ownership**



#### 2.1 Handling: Minimum Standard No. 1 – Handling Cats

Gentle handling is important for cat welfare. Gentle handling techniques are less stressful than more forceful handling/restraint and allow the cat to retain some sense of control, which is important for the cat's welfare (Gourkow & Fraser, 2006; Rodan, 2010; Rodan et al., 2022). Gentle handing is also an important aspect of pain management for cats (Gruen et al., 2022; Steagall et al., 2022).

Gentle and respectful interactions help reduce fear and stress cats may experience and the chance they will respond with aggression to being handled (Burns et al., 2020; Moody et al., 2019; Riemer et al., 2021; Rodan, 2010; Rodan et al., 2022).

Passive restraint can be achieved by holding a cat secure but with the least amount of restraint (Rodan, 2010). Passive restraint in cats has been validated as gentle handling that uses the least amount of restraint needed to hold a cat in a position and where the cat can choose how they hold their head or body including their limbs, whilst not leaving the area directly in front of the handler (Moody et al., 2019). When compared with more forceful restraint, passive restraint can reduce how much a cat struggles and lead to fewer indicators of fear, anxiety, and distress (Moody et al., 2018, 2019, 2020). Examples to assist passive restraint include use of towels which also allow a cat to hide, covering a table with a towel for better traction,













examinations done in a carrier or a cat hide, paediatric hold for neonates or young kittens (Association of Shelter Veterinarians [ASV], 2022; Rodan et al., 2022). Providing a cat with treats throughout the exam and afterwards and using a soft and calm voice can also help minimise stress (ASV, 2022; Rodan et al., 2022).

Cats can be trained to participate in handling, including training them to allow for examinations, walking on a scale, or entering a travel crate (Gruen et al., 2013; Pratsch et al., 2018).

Cats must not be 'scruffed' to hold them in a restraint or to lift them as this causes stress and distress to cats. 'Scruffing' describes a method of restraint where a person uses their hands or a clip to firmly grip an animal by the loose skin at the back of the neck. Scruffing induces an immobility response from the cat, which is considered an inappropriate method of restraint. The forceful restraint imposed by 'scruffing' by hand or with a clip, or in full body restraint is stressful for a cat (Moody et al., 2018, 2020; Nuti et al., 2016; Pozza et al., 2008).

International cat experts including the Association of Shelter Veterinarians, the International Society of Feline Medicine, and the American Association of Feline Practitioners all advise that scruffing, use of skin clips, and use of full body restraint are no longer acceptable to use during veterinary examinations in the clinic (ASV, 2022; Rodan et al., 2022). 'Scruffing' will often cause a cat to be fearful and panic and provoke or escalate defensive aggression from a cat (Rodan et al., 2022).

It is the role of the veterinarian to establish a culture of kindness in the practice and avoid using either forced restraint or punitive training or management methods (Hammerle et al., 2015). Studies indicate that cat owners are more likely to disagree with more forceful handling, including 'scruffing', during veterinary treatments (Couture et al., 2022).

It is recommended that unsocialised stray cats are not physically handled for veterinary exams unless they are sedated or anesthetised (Rodan et al., 2022). Unsocialised stray cats can be handled with traps, cat dens, or multi-compartment enclosures to help ensure handler safety (ASV, 2022).

Human and cat interactions should be on the cat's terms. Cats will vary between whether they want to be picked up, where they want to be touched, and how much interaction they want with people and other animals (Haywood et al., 2021). Cats may be more affectionate with adults than with children (Hart et al., 2018; Haywood et al., 2021). A person should calmly approach a cat before handling or picking them and allow them to sniff their hand before indicating they want to interact further (Haywood et al., 2021).

## 2.2 Purchasing or Adopting a Cat or Kitten: Minimum Standard No. 2 – Purchasing or Adopting a Cat or Kitten

Provision of care for a cat should fulfil the five domains of animal welfare (see Mellor, 2015; Mellor & Reid, 1984; Mellor et al., 2020) which link the provision of care related to nutrition, environment, health, and behavioural interaction with a cat's mental state. Prospective adopters' knowledge about the needs of a companion animal can impact their expectations and the quality of the human-animal relationship (Gazzano et al., 2015; Haywood et al., 2021; O'Connor et al., 2016). Therefore, it is essential that new cat owners are provided information related to the cats needs such as medical history, desexing, microchipping, behaviour, and diet.











It is accepted that responsible cat ownership includes:

- Microchipping and use of a collar and tag for identification purposes (American Veterinary Medical Association [AVMA], 2016; CANZ, 2018, 2020; National Cat Management Strategy Group [NCMSG], 2020; New Zealand Veterinary Association [NZVA], 2018).
- Desexing before a cat reaches puberty (NCMSG, 2020; NZVA, 2018).
- Appropriate health care in accordance with veterinary advice and support. Cats require both preventive and therapeutic health care (e.g., vaccinations, parasite control, and treatment and monitoring of health problems) (NZVA, 2018),
- Adequate socialisation, training, exercise, and mental stimulation appropriate to their age, breed, and health status (AVMA, 2016; CANZ, 2020).
- Recognition of a decline in a cat's quality of life, and decisions, made in consultation with a veterinarian, regarding appropriate end-of-life care (e.g., palliative care, hospice, euthanasia) (AVMA, 2016).

Cat ownership is a commitment for a cat's lifetime, the average lifespan of a desexed companion cat is 14-16 years (NZVA, 2018). Finding an appropriate cat involves careful deliberation and reflection on what qualities will suit the owner's home and lifestyle (AVMA, 2016). Cat ownership also requires an investment of time and resources for food, containment, veterinary care, and provision of care when the owner is away (AVMA, 2016; NZVA, 2018; Rodan & Sparkes, 2012). Cat owners should be prepared to provide alternative arrangements for the cat if, for some reason, it is no longer possible for the owner or carer to look after the cat (NZVA, 2018).

Keeping cats at home and restricting their roaming is increasingly acknowledged as a part of responsible cat ownership (NCMSG, 2020). Cats allowed unrestricted outdoor access are at increased risk of injury from traffic, dog attacks or cat fights, increased risk of disease transmission, becoming lost or stolen, or trapped, or exposed to toxins for pest management (Bruce et al., 2019; Conroy et al., 2019; Loyd et al., 2013; Rochlitz, 2003a, 2003b, 2004b, 2004a; Tan et al., 2020; Wilson et al., 2017).

Introducing a cat of kitten outdoors for the first time at a new location should be done gradually and under supervision to ensure the cat or kitten does not run off (International Cat Care, 2019). A cat or kitten can be trained to eat their meals indoors to help ensure they return home if allowed access outside (International Cat Care, 2019).

As noted later in this report, it is essential for owners to provide an enriched environment at home to ensure their cats mental, and emotional needs and reduce the risk of the develop of problematic behaviours.

#### 2.3 Identification: Minimum Standard No. 3 – Identification

Accurately identifying a cat can help reunite them with their owners in case they become lost or are stolen (Alberthsen et al., 2013; Goodwin et al., 2018; Lancaster et al., 2015; Lord et al., 2007, 2010). This can be especially true during emergencies such as the 2011 earthquake in Christchurch, where 85% of microchipped animals were reunited with their owners, compared with just 15% of those without microchips (CANZ, 2018). In places where microchips are required, there are increased reunions of lost cats and families. Across three study sites in the United States, 39% of microchipped cats were returned to their owners, compared to 2% returned for un-microchipped cats (Lord et al., 2010). In Queensland,











51% of microchipped cats were returned to their owners compared to only 5% of un-microchipped cats (Lancaster et al., 2015).

Microchipping a cat with a registered microchip should be used as primary identification because the chip cannot be removed, dislodged, or lost without surgical intervention. Once a cat is microchipped, the 15-digit microchip number, and the animal and owner's details can be registered with a microchip registration database, such as the New Zealand Companion Animal Register, which is a national, private database (CANZ, 2018).

Most New Zealand cat owners who microchip their cats (74%) do so to help ensure they are found if lost or stolen (CANZ, 2020). In areas where cats are targets of pest control, microchipping and microchip registration or other forms of identification can help distinguish owned or managed stray cats from feral cats in pest management plans.

Microchip operated feeders can help manage cat feeding behaviour (Hadar et al., 2022; Witzel-Rollins et al., 2022) and microchip operated doors can control when a cat has access into and out of a home via a cat door, including cats that enter a home, but do not live there (Arhant et al., 2022).

Collars with a tag attached showing the owner's name and contact details are a useful way to quickly identify a cat (Arhant et al., 2022; Huang et al., 2018; Lord et al., 2007; Weiss et al., 2012) especially if the owner has not kept their cat's microchip information updated (Lancaster et al., 2015). Collars that are designed as anti-predation devices including those with bells, warning systems, or are large and brightly colour (i.e., 'clown collars') can also help reduce the impact cats have on wildlife to varying degrees (Calver et al., 2007; Calver & Thomas, 2011; Crowley et al., 2019; Gordon et al., 2010; Hall et al., 2015, 2016).

Approximately one third of New Zealand cat owners use collars for their cats (Gates et al., 2019; Harrod et al., 2016). Cat owners in New Zealand have been found to use collars for identification and to reduce predation, however, they were also concerned about the safety of the collar, repeated collar loss, and their cat's acceptance of wearing one (Harrod et al., 2016). Cats that wear collars should be observed to determine if there are negative impacts to the cat (Arhant et al., 2022; Lord et al., 2010). Collars that are not made to break away from the cat should they become tangled on an object, or the body part of the cat can result in injuries (Calver et al., 2013). A collar should be sufficiently snug around the cat's neck to reduce the possibility of it catching on objects such as vegetation. Collars that are too loose around the neck can be a hazard, as the cat may get a front leg or their lower jaw caught through the collar, with potentially severe consequences (Calver et al., 2013). Two fingers should be able to fit snugly between the collar and the cat's neck (Arhant et al., 2022; Lord et al., 2010). Collar injuries and deaths are rare, and the benefits of identification and reduction in predation outweigh the risks to the cat (Arhant et al., 2022; Calver et al., 2013).

#### 2.4 Introducing a New Cat to Companion Animals in the Home: Minimum Standard No. 4 – Introducing a New Cat to Companion Animals in the Home

Intercat aggression is common in multi-cat households (Levine, 2004; Lindell et al., 1997; Pachel, 2014; Ramos et al., 2019). A cat may be territorial (Bradshaw, 2016). Bringing a new cat into a home that already has a cat or a dog can result in fighting, with senior cats, kittens, and puppies particularly at risk of injury (Levine et al., 2004; Ramos et al., 2019). If early problems with confrontation occur, it is best to keep the new cat separated from the existing animal(s) until they become more compatible (Ramos & Reche-Junior, 2016).











Gradual introductions may take several days to weeks to months (Ramos & Reche-Junior, 2016). Introductions should be short and supervised to ensure the comfort and safety of all animals (Ramos & Reche-Junior, 2016).

On the rare occasions when a cat fails to settle into a new environment, veterinary advice should be sought to rule out medical issues, and behavioural advice sought on options such as pheromone sprays or diffusers, or medication that may help the introduction succeed (Ramos & Reche-Junior, 2016; Ramos et al., 2019). There may also be the need to decide if this is the right environment for the cat and whether rehoming to a family without other companion animals is more appropriate (Ramos et al., 2019).

Relinquishing (Changing) Ownership: No Minimum Standard

#### PART 3:

#### **Food and Water**



#### 3.1 Food and Feeding: Minimum Standard No. 5 - Food and Feeding

A number of factors need consideration for the amount of food and nutrients cats require including characteristics of the animal (e.g., pregnancy, lactation, age, sex, size, breed, state of general health and development, level of activity and exercise needed) (Fahey et al., 2008; Perez-Camargo, 2010; Teng et al., 2018a; Wichert et al., 2007, 2009, 2012; Zoran, 2008; Zoran & Buffington, 2011). The Association of the American Feed Control Officials (AAFCO) has nutrient profiles for growing kittens and reproduction, and one for adult maintenance (AAFCO, 2015). Food labelled with the AAFCO label on the container can be assured to meet the nutrient profiles that cats need (AAFCO, 2015). Care should be taken in feeding amounts of food that are required to maintain ideal body condition.

Kittens will begin weaning around three to four weeks of age and can be introduced to wet cat food around this time (Cline, 2012; Lawler, 2008; Martin, 1986; Sturgess & Hurley, 2007; Veronesi & Fusi, 2022). Kittens also start showing interest in their mother's food as early as three weeks; early access is important in facilitating learning to eat solid foods as they are weaned (Cline, 2012; Sturgess & Hurley, 2007). Weaning should be gradual to reduce the stress on the kittens and the queen (Gross et al., 2010; Lawler, 2008; Veronesi & Fusi, 2022).

Kittens have different nutritional needs as they grow and have much higher requirements for protein when compared to the young of other species (Sturgess & Hurley, 2007; Zoran, 2002). Kittens should gain approximately 12g per day in their first three weeks of life or 50-100g per week (Cline, 2012; Sturgess & Hurley, 2007; Veronesi & Fusi, 2022). Kittens should be fed enough meals in a day to maintain growth

Factors related to the food (e.g., nutritional composition, quality, and feeding frequency) also need consideration (Gray et al., 2005; Schlesinger & Joffe, 2011). Home-made diets may not contain all the nutrients a cat needs (Domínguez-Oliva et al., 2023; Michel, 2006; Pedrinelli et al., 2017, 2019; Wilson et al., 2019). Dog food should not be fed to cats as a sole maintenance diet, as it does not contain all the essential requirements to fulfil a cat's nutritional needs. Cats differ from dogs in their requirements for dietary protein, fibre, fats, vitamins, minerals, amino acid requirements such as taurine, and carbohydrates (Di Cerbo et al., 2017; Legrand-Defretin, 1994; Zaghini & Biagi, 2005; Zoran, 2002). Some cats enjoy raw











or cooked meat, offal, and fish but these should be fed only as part of a balanced diet (Schlesinger & Joffe, 2011). However, it is not recommended to feed raw fish, meat, or offal as these products can have high amounts of harmful bacteria which can cause illness in a cat (American Animal Hospital Association [AAHA], 2011; Quimby et al., 2021). A cat should not be fed dairy products as they may have difficulty digesting them, resulting in diarrhoea, or vomiting (Lawler, 2008; Sturgess & Hurley, 2007; Veronesi & Fusi, 2022).

## 3.2 Disease and Illness related to Diet: Minimum Standard No. 6 – Disease and Illness Related to Diet

Diseases in cats can be caused through inappropriate diet (Buckley et al., 2011; Buff et al., 2014; Di Cerbo et al., 2017; Domínguez-Oliva et al., 2023; Pedrinelli et al., 2019; Schlesinger & Joffe, 2011; Zaghini & Biagi, 2005; Zoran, 2002; Zoran & Buffington, 2011). If a cat has gone off its food for extended period, it can lead to an inadequate supply of essential nutrients. Anorexia in cats can be due to different reasons including underlying disease, medication, or palatability of food, and veterinary examination is needed to determine how to treat the cat (Michel, 2001; Zoran, 2008). Bowel movement problems in cats such as straining or diarrhoea (Jergens, 2012; Michel, 2001) or straining to urinate (Defauw et al., 2011; Gunn-Moore, 2003) may indicate underlying disease and must be brought to the attention of a veterinarian.

Cats are particularly susceptible to a lack of vitamin B1 (thiamine) (Di Cerbo et al., 2017; Legrand-Defretin, 1994; Zaghini & Biagi, 2005; Zoran, 2002). Vitamin A deficiencies are not common in cats, however, excess amounts in the diet can be a problem (Zoran, 2002) The feeding of a diet very high in liver can result, over time, in vitamin A toxicity (Hayes, 1982). This may cause severe mobility problems through fusion of the vertebrae (Hayes, 1982; Seawright et al., 1967).

Even when an owner feeds a nutritionally balanced diet, food sensitivity (adverse food reactions of both immunological and non-immunological origin) diseases can occur that result in skin disease (especially scratching or dermatitis) or in vomiting and diarrhoea (Mueller, 2020; Verlinden et al., 2006).

Dental problems may arise where soft food is the predominant diet (Buckley et al., 2011; Clarke & Cameron, 1998; Gawor et al., 2006; Mata, 2015). Feeding larger-sized cat biscuits or meat requiring chewing can help maintain healthy teeth. Regular tooth brushing, with brushes designed for cats, in between veterinary visits can help maintain dental health (Buckley et al., 2011; Mata, 2015).

Infections of the mouth can lead to lead to welfare compromise in cats (Niemiec et al., 2020) Signs of mouth infections include bad breath, gingival bleeding or a sudden weight loss and an increase in a cat's thirst (Bellei et al., 2008; Winer et al., 2016). Periodontal disease caused by accumulation of dental plaque is common in cats (Cave et al., 2012; McFadden & Manfra Marretta, 2013). Cats can also experience pain from periodontal disease (Cave et al., 2012; Watanabe et al., 2019) However, cats can maintain a healthy weight and appetite and still have periodontal disease (Cave et al., 2012). Oral mouth infections can have systemic impacts with the potential to cause further disease in the body (Cave et al., 2012). Routine exams and cleaning can prevent the accumulation of dental plaque and help prevent the advancement of more serious dental disease (Niemiec et al., 2020).

#### 3.3 Body Condition: Minimum Standard No. 7 - Body Condition

An adult cat should be well proportioned and have an observable waist behind the ribs when viewed from above and from the side. Ribs should be palpable (able to be touched or felt), but with a light fat covering.



The abdominal fat pad should be minimal; excessive abdominal fat indicates obesity, which can contribute to disease (Nestle Purina Pet Care Center, 2002).

Obesity in cats is a serious health issue that can lead to problems such as diabetes, joint issues, lameness, feline lower urinary tract disease, idiopathic hepatic lipodosis (IHL) and nonallergic skin conditions (Lund et al., 2005; Öhlund et al., 2018; Teng et al., 2018a; Zoran, 2002).

Obesity in companion cats is increasing in many countries (Kipperman & German, 2018; Teng et al., 2017) including New Zealand (Forrest et al., 2021). Weight management is multifactorial and needs to consider the individual cat and their environment including other companion animals in the home, and the human caregivers (Chandler et al., 2017; Forrest et al., 2021; Michel & Scherk, 2012; Öhlund et al., 2018; Sutherland et al., 2022; Witzel-Rollins et al., 2022). There are a variety of weight loss programmes available based on the cat's needs and fit with the family dynamic (Hadar et al., 2022; Michel & Scherk, 2012).

The Nestlé Purina Body Condition System 9- point scale is used in the updated Code (Nestle Purina Pet Care Center, 2002). The 9-point scale has been updated since the Code was last drafted (which currently includes the 5-point scale). The 9-point scale is validated, considered easy to use (German et al., 2006), and useful in assessing body condition fat (Bjornvad et al., 2011), survival and lifespan (Teng et al., 2018b), and health conditions (Teng et al., 2018a).

Body condition scoring should be performed using both visual and hands-on assessments. Body condition of cats cannot be assessed by simple visual observation. The extent of fat deposits can only be accurately assessed by feeling the tissues over the cat's ribs, backbone, pelvis, and abdomen (Michel & Scherk, 2012).

Some, but not all, cats will regulate their food intake to meet their energy needs (Michel & Scherk, 2012). For those cats with a body condition score of 7 or above indicative of being too heavy, a calorie-restricted diet should be considered (Teng et al., 2018a).

The energy requirements for growth reduce as a kitten ages, but during the period of rapid growth (its first three months) a kitten will have 1.5 - 2.5 times the energy needs of a normally active adult cat (Fahey et al., 2008; Perez-Camargo, 2010; Zoran, 2002). Therefore, kitten diets and young cat diets should be formulated to help the kitten maintain growth whilst not gaining too much weight potentially a risk factor for adult obesity (Salt et al., 2022; Serisier et al., 2013; Wichert et al., 2007).

A lactating queen will have two to three times the energy needs of a normally active adult cat (Lawler & Bebiak, 1986; Wichert et al., 2009, 2012).

#### 3.4 Water: Minimum Standard No. 8 - Water

Water is an essential daily requirement for the proper functioning of the whole body (Gross et al., 2010; Zoran, 2002). While all cats must be provided with access to water daily, requirements will be modified by the water content of the food provided (Zoran, 2002). Water intake can be influenced depending on whether the cat consumes dry or wet food. Cats on a dry food diet drink more water (Buckley, Hawthorne, et al., 2011; Sparkes et al., 2015).

A lactating queen requires increased amounts of water to maintain a steady milk supply and therefore, needs to always have access to clean, fresh water whilst she is feeding kittens (Cline, 2012).

Cats who do not drink adequate amounts of water each day may be more susceptible to developing feline lower urinary tract disease (FLUTD) or inflammation of the bladder and urethra (Defauw et al., 2011;











Grant, 2010; Gunn-Moore, 2003). This may progress to urethral blockage in male cats, which will rapidly lead to death if not treated (Defauw et al., 2011; Gerber et al., 2005; Gunn-Moore, 2003). Other factors associated with FLUTD include obesity, stress, and lack of exercise (Defauw et al., 2011; Grant, 2010; Gunn-Moore, 2003).

Dehydration can become a serious problem for cats (especially kittens) when diarrhoea or other conditions occur that cause excessive fluid loss from the body (Veronesi & Fusi, 2022). Equally, if an increase in thirst occurs, this may indicate that kidney damage or a disease such as diabetes has developed, in which case veterinary attention should be sought (Sparkes et al., 2015, 2016).

#### PART 4:

## **Containment and Housing**



## Minimum Standard No. 9 – Containment and Housing (other than for transport or under veterinary care)

Primary enclosure size is important for a cat's welfare. In larger enclosures, cats are likely to have more choices and additional enrichment (ASV, 2022; Taylor, St Denis, et al., 2022). Larger spaces can facilitate safer socialising with other cats of people, and reduce stress, and reduce risk of respiratory disease (Kessler & Turner, 1998; Wagner et al., 2018c).

For cats that are kept in cages, multi-compartment enclosures are recommended for housing cats in cages because it provides a cat with more choice and control in their environment (ASV, 2022). Multi-compartment enclosures provide cats separation of toileting areas from food, water, and resting areas (ASV, 2022). Cats can be moved between compartments whilst cleaning, which can make cleaning easier and safer for staff, reduces stress on the cat, and helps minimise the spread of disease (ASV, 2022).

Cats can be kept in restricted outdoor environments and maintain good welfare (de Assis & Mills, 2021). However, cats confined long-term in an unsuitable environment with minimal provision for adequate exercise are at risk of suffering from ill health, depression, and behaviour problems (see Behaviour section below for more information) (Amat et al., 2009, 2016; Ellis et al., 2013).

Cats kept in barren or less enriched housing are at higher risk of stress and fearfulness (Gourkow & Fraser, 2006; Rehnberg et al., 2015). Cats are also at welfare risk if they cannot engage in behaviours that promote their physical health such as exercising including stretching, and those that promote their mental health, such as exploration, scratching, hiding, climbing, perching, and having choices in, and control over, their environment (Herron & Buffington, 2010; Rochlitz, 2005; Stella & Croney, 2019; Van Der Leij et al., 2019; Wagner et al., 2018a, 2018b).

Providing places for cats to hide reduces fear, anxiety, and stress (Ellis et al., 2021; Ellis et al., 2017b; Foreman-Worsley & Farnworth, 2019; Van Der Leij et al., 2019; Vinke et al., 2014). Hiding places also provide cats with the choice to be seen or not seen and can help them feel safe (ASV, 2022). Providing items such as cardboard boxes, pipes and tunnels, or untreated wicker baskets can help them to feel more comfortable in their environment (Ellis et al., 2021).











Providing cats the opportunity to climb and perch can reduce stress in novel environments (Rehnberg et al., 2015). Cats prefer spending time on surfaces and high structures compared to the floor (Amat et al., 2016; Stella & Croney, 2019; Vinke et al., 2014).

Scratching is a normal behaviour for cats (Bradshaw, 2018; Cisneros et al., 2022). Scratching is important for maintain claw health and is an important communication behaviour in cats (Cisneros et al., 2022; DePorter & Elzerman, 2019). Cats need opportunities to scratch in their homes (Cisneros et al., 2022; Zhang & McGlone, 2020) even if they are kept in cages (ASV, 2022).

Breeding studs kept alone or in caged housing are at risk of poor welfare when their physical and social needs are not met, or they are not provided opportunities to exercise or engage in behaviour that supports their physical, mental and emotional needs (European Union Platform on Animal Welfare: Welfare in Pet Trade [AW Platform], 2020; Goericke-Pesch & Packeiser, 2022; Rioja-Lang et al., 2019).

Multi-cat settings may be stressful for individual cats; therefore, considerations of their prior socialisation should be factored into decisions to house cats together (Finka et al., 2014; Foreman-Worsley & Farnworth, 2019; Wagner et al., 2018a). Cats living in multi-cat settings will benefit from additional provisions to meet their physical, health, behavioural, mental, and emotional needs (Ellis et al., 2013; Foreman-Worsley & Farnworth, 2019; Ramos et al., 2013). The need for personal space and furnishings that enable climbing, perching, and hiding is recommended for communal housing (Ellis et al., 2013; Gourkow & Fraser, 2006).

Cages should be facing away from each other at a minimum of 1.2m apart to minimise the spread of disease (ASV, 2022; Gaskell & Wardley, 1977; Povey & Johnson, 1970; Wardley et al., 1977). Cages should be constructed of solid, non-absorbable materials and be secure, and allow for adequate ventilation and heating (ASV, 2022; Wagner et al., 2018b, 2018a).

Cats need a sleeping and eating area that is separate from their toileting area (Ellis et al., 2013; Wagner et al., 2018a, 2018b).

Housing for queens with unweaned litters should be in a quiet location to helps ensure the queen does not become stressed reduces risk of disease transmission and cannibalism (Cline, 2012; Goericke-Pesch, 2010; Holst, 2022; Root Kustritz, 2005).

Cat will seek out warm places, yet household appliances (such as heaters, clothes dryers, hot water cupboards, and washing machines), warm car engines or warm tarmac, and roof cavities can result in cats experiencing serious injury or death (Cudney et al., 2021).

Exercise is important for the physical and mental health of cats, particularly if they are usually kept confined with limited space (Arena et al., 2021; Ellis et al., 2013; Rioja-Lang et al., 2019; Sonntag & Overall, 2014). Exercise requirements vary with age, breed, and individual circumstances. Older cats may exercise less relative to younger cats, but physical activity will remain important for both health and mental stimulation (Ellis et al., 2013; Rodan et al., 2022; Vogt et al., 2010).

Cats must have access to adequate shelter that provides warmth and cooling as needed, is free from draughts, and excessive temperature fluctuations, and has bedding to meet their physical, health, behavioural, mental, and emotional needs needs (ASV, 2022; Rochlitz, 2005; Wagner et al., 2018a, 2018b).

Cats benefit from access to natural light for important behaviours such as resting and sleeping in the sunlight (ASV, 2022; Wagner et al., 2018a). Cats should be exposed to a balance of light and dark conditions to maintain circadian rhythms (ASV, 2022; Wagner et al., 2018a). The cat's sleeping area should contain appropriate bedding for sleeping and warmth and be sectioned off to provide a darkened environment (ASV, 2022; Wagner et al., 2018a).











To ensure comfort for cats kept in indoor environments, temperatures should be maintained between 18-26.6 degree Celsius and humidity between 30-70 % (ASV, 2022). A cat's body will start responding to warming ambient temperatures above 30° C (Adams et al., 1970; Fadic et al., 1991). Cats that are brachycephalic, very old or young, sick, obese, pregnant, or have other medical problems are more susceptible to heat stress in warmer temperatures (Hall et al., 2022; Johnson et al., 2006).

Early signs that a cat is attempting to cool down from warming temperatures include reluctance to move/lethargic; drooling/salivating; increased grooming/licking fur; fast, shallow breathing; and open mouth breathing/panting (starting above 40C) (Baker, 1972; Hall et al., 2022. Cats showing these signs should have access to water, and should be placed in a cool, shaded area (Drobatz & Costello, 2010; Johnson et al., 2006).

Heat stroke is a medical emergency and requires veterinary care (Johnson et al., 2006). Cats showing signs of heat stroke include appearance of confusion; uncoordinated/wobbly on their feet; bright red tongue or dark gums; tremors, seizures; and diarrhoea/vomiting (Cudney et al., 2021; Johnson et al., 2006).

#### PART 5:

## **Hygiene and Sanitation**



#### Minimum Standard No. 10 – Hygiene and Sanitation

Where multiple cats are confined together, sanitation plans, including cleanliness and disinfection are needed to prevent the spread of infectious diseases (Cline, 2012; ASV, 2022; Koret Shelter Medicine Program, 2018). A sanitation plan will need to include a cleaning and disinfection schedule (including the proper types of products), appropriate for the setting (e.g., multi-cat settings, home environment) and use of the area (e.g., litter trays in the home, examination areas in a shelter) (Cline, 2012; ASV, 2022; Koret Shelter Medicine Program, 2018).

Soap or detergent is required to remove organic matter that adheres to surfaces; heavily used areas should then be disinfected and allowed to become thoroughly dry before cats re-enter (ASV, 2022; Koret Shelter Medicine Program, 2018).

Cats are sensitive to many chemicals, and great care needs to be exercised in achieving disinfection without introducing toxic substances or noxious odours into the cat's environment (ASV, 2022; Koret Shelter Medicine Program, 2018). It is also essential that drying after cleaning and disinfection is part of the sanitation process to ensure reduction in pathogens (Koret Shelter Medicine Program, 2018).

Food and water bowls should be washed daily with hot water and soap or detergent. Food and water bowls should be disinfected weekly; and daily for cats in a shelter, rescue, veterinary, temporary housing, or research, testing, or teaching locations (Cline, 2012). Care should be taken to clean around food bowls daily to remove small pieces of discarded food that may harbour saliva and infectious agents (ASV, 2022).











Litter trays should be cleaned daily to remove faeces or urine-soaked litter (Cline, 2012; Neilson, 2004; Pryor et al., 2001). Some cats may require more frequent cleaning to ensure they use their litter tray (Neilson, 2004). Litter should be completely changed weekly, or more frequently if needed, and in multi cat settings, be changed over daily (Cline, 2012). On a weekly basis in homes, and daily in shelter, rescue, veterinary, temporary housing, or research, testing, or teaching locations, litter trays should be washed in hot, soapy water; disinfected for the required contact time according to the product used (typically ten minutes is adequate); and thoroughly rinsed and dried, particularly where cross-infection is an issue (ASV, 2022; Koret Shelter Medicine Program, 2018).

All hard surfaces with which caged cats come into contact should be scrubbed with hot water and soap or detergent and disinfected in between changes of occupants or as needed if soiled (ASV, 2022; Koret Shelter Medicine Program, 2018).

Bedding should be removed and washed weekly and disinfected between different cats in shelter, rescue, veterinary, temporary housing, or research, testing, or teaching locations, (Cline, 2012). Soft blankets and beds than can be laundered are encouraged (Koret Shelter Medicine Program, 2018). Specific laundering protocols should be used for certain pathogens, otherwise, blankets and bedding should be discarded (ASV, 2022). Furniture with fabric and carpets should be avoided or kept to a minimum in shelter, rescue, veterinary, temporary housing, or research, testing, or teaching locations, as these are difficult to keep clean, and may harbour infectious agents (ASV, 2022).

The environment should be well-ventilated to assist in preventing dampness and the build-up of noxious odours and to minimise the irritation of a cat's respiratory system (ASV, 2022; Wagner et al., 2018a). The air exchange rate should be 10-20 complete exchanges per hour (ASV, 2022). Proper ventilation helps ensure dust, moisture, gasses such as ammonia and carbon dioxide are kept at minimal levels whilst fresh, oxygenated air is maintained at suitable levels throughout the facility (ASV, 2022). Ventilation should be adjusted seasonally as needed (ASV, 2022).

A cat's housing should not smell strongly of ammonia (ASV, 2022). High ammonia concentrations for prolonged periods can cause eye and respiratory irritation in cats, resulting in discomfort and respiratory disease (Dodd & Gross, 1980).

Humans can detect ammonia gas at levels starting at 5ppm with irritation to eyes, nose, and throat beginning at 30ppm exposure for 10 min (National Research Council, 2008). The average airborne concentration permitted over an eight-hour working day is 25ppm (Worksafe, n.d.) Cats are sensitive to ammonia at very low levels (3.5-8.7ppm; Boyd et al., 1944 and some have recommended shelters should aim for ammonia levels to be below 2ppm (Newbury et al., 2010).











#### PART 6:

## **Breeding cats**



#### Part 6.1 Breeding: Minimum Standard No. 11 – Breeding

Breeder registration is considered important for protecting the welfare of cats involved in breeding by driving adherence with animal welfare standards and improving record keeping of inheritable welfare problems (AW Platform, 2020; Fossati & Ruffo, 2021).

Responsible cat breeding includes considerations for the welfare of parents and offspring, avoiding unnecessary pain or suffering from inherited problems, avoiding extreme body types and impairments in organ function, reproduction, locomotion, and behaviour (Steiger, 2007). The availability of homes is part of the breeder's obligations to ensure the welfare of all kittens purposely bred (AW Platform, 2020).

For breeders of cats, consideration should be given to the frequency at which an individual is used for breeding and the age at which breeding commences and ends. Age of maturity varies with the breed and the individual cat. A cat should be fully grown before she is bred, and she should be at least twelve to fifteen months old before being bred (AW Platform, 2020; Goericke-Pesch & Packeiser, 2022; Johnson, 2022). There are significantly higher rates of kitten mortality born to queens less than a year old whilst risk of still birth in kittens increases after the queen is older than five years of age (Ström Holst & Frössling, 2009).

A queen should not be bred to have more than three litters over two years, and she should have a period of at least 26 weeks of rest between litters (Goericke-Pesch & Packeiser, 2022; Johnson, 2022). Breeding a queen who has had more than three litters should be carefully considered (Johnson, 2022). The recommended age of retirement for a queen is six years of age (AW Platform, 2020; Goericke-Pesch & Packeiser, 2022; Johnson, 2022).

A queen should be healthy and up to date on vaccinations, parasite treatment, and other preventive treatments prior to being bred (AW Platform, 2020; Goericke-Pesch & Packeiser, 2022; Johnson, 2022). A queen should not be bred if she is overweight due to the increased risk of dystocia, stillbirths, and caesarean sections (Cline, 2012; Lawler & Monti, 1984).

Hereditary disease in cats is considered a health and welfare problem. Pedigree cats have high levels of inbreeding (Goericke-Pesch & Packeiser, 2022; Pistorius & Blokker, 2021) and are at increased risk of inheriting undesirable traits that can negatively impact welfare (Goericke-Pesch & Packeiser, 2022; Lyons, 2015).

The list below includes many but is not an exhaustive list of welfare problems associated with certain breeds (reviewed by Lyons, 2015; Steiger, 2007):

- Skin problems include problems with thermoregulation (long-haired, Rex-types, hairless), whiskers have structural problems or are lacking (Rex-types, hairless), occurrence of eczemas (long-haired), thickening and folds (hairless) and increased risk of skin cancer and deafness (white-haired);
- Skeleton problems include joint issues due to large body size (Maine coon, Norwegian Forest Cat), jaw and tooth abnormalities, respiratory challenges due to nasal abnormalities, eyelid problems,











challenges with feeding neonates, and dystocia associated with brachycephaly and short head (Persian, Exotic short-haired, Burmese), and locomotion, movement, and neurological problems, challenges with urinating and defaecating, and pelvic pain associated with short tail and taillessness (Manx, Cymric, Bobtails), dwarfism, reduced growth or limb bones, impaired locomotion, and spine problems due to short legs (Munchkin);

 Sensory problems include pain from bones and cartilage defects, spine and tail defects, and impaired social communication from folded ears (Scottish Fold, Poodle Cat); and cornea defects and pain (Siamese, Persian, Colourpoint).

Breed type is a risk factor for health and welfare problems such as hypertrophic cardiomyopathy in Maine Coon cats (Fries et al., 2008; Gundler et al., 2008), diabetes in Burmese cats (Samaha et al., 2020), and polycystic kidney disease in Persian cats (Barrs et al., 2001). Cat breed is also a risk factor for dystocia (Holst et al., 2017).

Cat owners may not have good understanding of the potential welfare impacts associated with certain breeds of cats (Plitman et al., 2019). At least one study has shown that owners of brachycephalic breeds would not recommend this type of cat due to health issues (Plitman et al., 2019). Selection of less extreme anatomy, genetic testing and counselling is recommended to reduce the welfare harms of hereditary problems (World Small Animal Veterinary Association [WSAVA], n.d.). Genetic testing can identify inheritable disease, undesired phenotypic traits, and mutations (Lyons, 2012, 2015).

#### 6.2 Need for Desexing: Minimum Standard No. 12 - Need for Desexing

Unplanned or indiscriminate breeding of companion cats can cause health and welfare issues associated with insufficient care and inappropriate disposal of unwanted kittens.

Desexing can reduce the risk of disease including:

- 16.3% of all tumours are mammary gland tumors, making this the second most common tumour (Vascellari et al., 2009). 8.2% of tumours in a Swiss feline cancer registry (1965-2008) were mammary gland tumours (Graf et al., 2016). Previously reports showed 2.5% incidence of mammary gland tumours in female cats and make up 12% of all tumours making this the third most common tumour (Dorn et al., 1968; Verstegen & Onclin, 2003).
- >90% of mammary gland tumours in cats are malignant (Dorn et al., 1968; Hampe & Misdorp, 1974; Hayes et al., 1981). A more recent study with a Swiss feline cancer registry found that 83% of mammary tumours were malignant (Graf et al., 2016).
- Japanese and Siamese breeds are at increased risk of mammary tumours (Graf et al., 2016; Verstegen & Onclin, 2003).
- Desexing prior to one year of age protects against mammary carcinoma: 91 % risk of reduction if desexed before six months, 86 % reduction if prior to one year (Overley et al., 2005).
- Pyometra risk increase significantly with age for female cats (Potter et al., 1991).

Desexed male cats live a mean of 62% longer than undesexed male cats, and desexed female cats live a mean of 39 longer than undesexed female cats (Banfield Pet Hospital, 2013).



Desexed cats are less likely to escape or roam:

- Intact male cats are at higher risk of traffic accidents, injuries, bite wounds, and disease transmission compared to desexed males (Finkler et al., 2011; Gunther et al., 2015; 2018).
- Roaming (and fighting and spraying) reduced or eliminated in 80-90% of cats (Hart & Cooper, 1984)
- Desexing reduces activity related to territorial behaviour. Authors note cats are less active, which they do not specify includes roaming (Cafazzo et al., 2019).

Unplanned litter contributes to surrenders to shelters. Kittens under six months of age made up the largest proportion of owner-surrender cats to a shelter in Australia (Marston & Bennett, 2009). Unplanned kittens that enter the shelter system can often be in a poor state of welfare, including disease and upper respiratory infections (Marston & Bennett, 2009). For a period of two years (2012-2014), monitoring of free-roaming kittens in Israel indicated this group had the highest prevalence of emaciation and thinness, lowest body condition scores, and higher prevalence of severe injury or disability compared to adults (Gunther et al., 2018).

The traditional age for desexing a cat has been reported as four to six months of age (Farnworth et al., 2013; Orr & Jones, 2019). However, a kitten may reach puberty as early as 14 weeks of age (3.5 months) (Farnworth et al., 2013; Stubbs & Bloomberg, 1995). Desexing can safely be carried out as early as six weeks of age (Howe, 2015, 1997; Root Kustritz, 1999; Stubbs & Bloomberg, 1995; Stubbs et al., 1996). Therefore, desexing at twelve weeks (three months) will ensure a kitten does not have a litter before puberty. Early desexing does not adversely affect the physiological or behavioural development in cats; desexing at a younger age is a faster procedure and with a quicker recovery time for the kitten (Aronsohn & Faggella, 1993; Bushby & Griffin, 2011; Howe, 1997; Porters et al., 2015) and it reduces the likelihood of some cat behaviours such as spraying, straying, and vocalising (Spain et al., 2004).

#### 6.3 Pregnancy and Birthing: Minimum Standard No. 13 – Pregnancy and Birthing

Queens may become restless and reclusive and seek out places that are quiet and private prior to giving birth (Cline, 2012). Queens should be provided access to a birthing area one to two weeks prior to giving birth so she can become familiar with the area (Cline, 2012; AW Platform, 2020; Johnson, 2022). A nesting box should be provided for the queen before birthing, and the bedding material should be replaced after the birth has taken place (Cline, 2012; Johnson, 2022). It should be ensured that the chosen place is warm, dry, and safe (Cline, 2012; Goericke-Pesch & Packeiser, 2022; Johnson, 2022).

Queens should be monitored to ensure they are not having difficulty birthing (AW Platform, 2020; Holst, 2022). The queen and kitten should be watched for signs of dystocia. Dystocia is a medical emergency and signs include prolonged contractions and straining that does not progress, green discharge from the vagina, panting, crying, or queen appears exhausted, restless, or has stopped trying to give birth (Holst, 2022; Von Heimendahl & Cariou, 2009).

Queens can be stressed after giving birth, therefore, unless there is reason to believe the kittens need intervention, then providing the queen a quiet and safe space is important to reduce stress which can lead to poor milk production and aggression towards the kittens (Cline, 2012). The queen must be provided the choice to spend time away from her kittens, especially to urinate and defaecate, and she will begin spending more time away once weaning begins (Root Kustritz, 2005).











Where birthing is occurring within the home, kittens should be restricted, for their safety and to minimise disease transmission, by keeping them within a pen enclosure for the first several weeks of their life (Cline, 2012; Goericke-Pesch & Packeiser, 2022). The birthing area or queening box will need to have ongoing provision of fresh bedding to maintain hygiene (Cline, 2012; AW Platform, 2020; Goericke-Pesch, 2010).

Studs should be excluded from access to the kittens to prevent the kittens from being harmed or killed, reduce spread of disease, and reduce maternal stress (Cline, 2012; Holst, 2022).

#### 6.4 Lactation and Weaning: Minimum Standard No. 14 – Lactation and Weaning

Kittens will remain dependent on their mother for feeding, toileting, and keeping warm for the first four weeks of life (Veronesi & Fusi, 2022; Zambelli, 2012). A kitten's eyes will normally start opening by seven to twelve days after birth and their ears will normally be open by fourteen days (Hammerle et al., 2015; Veronesi & Fusi, 2022; Zambelli, 2012). Kittens will start purring from two days of age (Hammerle et al., 2015).

Kittens will begin weaning around three to four weeks of age and can be introduced to solid food around this time (Cline, 2012; Lawler, 2008; Martin, 1986; Sturgess & Hurley, 2007; Veronesi & Fusi, 2022; Zambelli, 2012). The queen will usually begin restricting access to herself at four to five weeks and weaning is usually completed by six to eight weeks (i.e., the kitten is able to feed entirely on solid food) (Martin, 1986; Root Kustritz, 2005).

Premature maternal separation is considered to occur during the sensitive socialisation period when the kitten is between two to seven weeks of age (Hammerle et al., 2015; Karsh & Turner, 1988). Kittens will vocalise when separated from their mother during the first three weeks of age, with orphaned kittens showing increased vocalisation and activity (Lowell et al., 2020; Martínez-Byer et al., 2023). To ensure adequate socialisation to other cats, kittens ideally should not be removed from their mothers before ten weeks of age (Veronesi & Fusi, 2022).

Weaning time should balance the welfare needs of both the queen and the kittens (Lawler, 2008; Veronesi & Fusi, 2022). Weaning includes a transition from the milk to solid food, and then separation from the mother (Ahola et al., 2017; Lawler, 2008). Early weaning is a stressful time for the kittens (Ahola et al., 2017; Martin, 1986). Kittens need to have been weaned from milk for at least two weeks before they go to their new owner to help minimise stressors and avoid premature separation from the mother during their sensitive socialisation period (Lowell et al., 2020). Diets should be formulated to optimise nutrition for weaning kittens to reduce stressors during this time (Cline, 2012; Zambelli, 2012).

#### 6.5 Removal of Kittens from the Queen and Supply of Kittens: Minimum Standard No. 15 – Removal of Kittens from the Queen and Supply of Kittens and Cats

The essential age for socialisation of kittens is from two to seven weeks of age, and handling and exposure to different sounds, items, surfaces, and smells during this period is vital for good sociability towards humans in the adult cat (Bateson, 2014; Karsh, 1984; Karsh and Turner, 1988; Lowe and Bradshaw, 2001).

Socialisation plans should include beneficial exposure to experiences and management of experiences that may lead to kittens experiencing fear. Early experiences with fear can lead to health and behavioural problems (Casey & Bradshaw, 2008; Griffin, 1989; Latham & Mason, 2008; Levine, 2008; Mikkola et al., 2022). Socialisation, including sufficient handling of young kittens from the age of three weeks will help











them to socialise to people and later adjust to a new home (Casey & Bradshaw, 2008; Mikkola et al., 2022).

Separating kittens from their mother can be stressful for the kitten (Lowell et al., 2020; Martínez-Byer et al., 2023). Owners of kittens to be rehomed need to be sure that the kittens are capable of independent life before moving them to new homes (AW Platform, 2020). A vaccination/worming programme should be implemented before rehoming (Day et al., 2016).

#### PART 7:

### Health



## 7.1 Ill Health and Injury: Minimum Standard No. 16 – Ill Health, Injury, and Distress

Health and welfare are intricately linked. Owners and persons in charge have a responsibility to maintain their cat in good health and to treat injury and disease when it occurs. The health and welfare of the cat should be checked regularly, including observing whether the cat is eating, cleaning, and behaving normally (Rodan & Sparkes, 2012).

Owners or persons in charge of cats have obligations under the Act for ensuring the cats health is protected including:

Ensuring they are meeting the physical, health, and behavioural needs of their animals (Part 1, section 10).

Ensuring an animal that is ill or injured receives treatment that alleviates any unreasonable or unnecessary pain or distress being suffered by the animal (<u>Part 1, section 11</u>).

Pain, physical or mental distress, and deteriorating health are recognised as a serious welfare harm to animals and must be treated as needed (Drobatz & Costello, 2010; Gruen et al., 2022; Monteiro et al., 2022; Steagall et al., 2022).

Cats that are experiencing acute or chronic pain show a range of behaviour changes including postures and activity, facial expressions, interactions with a person or environment, and activity levels (Steagall et al., 2022). There are several tools available for the assessment of acute and chronic pain including physical examination, clinical observation, measurement of physiological variables, wound palpation, observations of photos or videos, and active monitoring, in addition to metrology instruments such as pain scales (Gruen et al., 2022; Monteiro et al., 2022; Steagall et al., 2022).

Validated tools to assess acute and chronic include:

<u>UNESP-Botucatu Multidimensional Composite Pain Scale</u> (acute pain)

Feline Grimace Scale (acute pain)

Musculoskeletal Pain Screening Checklist (MiPSC) (chronic pain)

Feline Muskuloskeletal Pain Index (FMPI) (chronic pain)











Veterinary philosophy of managing pain has shifted towards proactive pain management (Gruen et al., 2022; Monteiro et al., 2022; Steagall et al., 2022). This indicates the need for progressive standards that are explicit in conveying expectations of owners and persons in charge of cats the requirement to address pain sooner rather than later. Owner recognition of pain in cats can be difficult due to the cryptic nature of cats showing signs of pain, and a lack of knowledge in assessing pain (Monteiro et al., 2022; Steagall et al., 2022), therefore, minimum standards specifying signs of pain that require veterinary attention are needed. Signs of pain in cats include (Merola & Mills, 2016):

- Lameness
- · Difficulty jumping
- Abnormal gait
- Reluctance to move
- Reaction to palpation
- Withdrawn or hiding behaviour
- Absence of grooming
- Playing less
- Appetite decrease
- Overall activity decrease
- Less rubbing toward people
- General mood
- Temperament
- Hunched-up posture
- Shifting of weight
- Licking a particular body region
- Lower head posture
- Blepharospasm (eyelid contractions)
- Change in form of feeding behaviour
- Avoiding bright areas
- Growling
- Groaning
- Eyes closed
- Straining to urinate
- · Tail flicking

Cats are at risk of serious injuries from vehicles, attacks from dogs, fighting with other cats, and interacting with traps (Bruce et al., 2019; Conroy et al., 2019; Drobatz & Costello, 2010; Loyd et al., 2013; Tan et al., 2020). Cats are also susceptible to fan belt injuries from cars or machinery and high-rise syndrome resulting in falls from a steep height (Drobatz & Costello, 2010).

Uncontrolled, profuse bleeding can be a result of serious injury or disease and requires immediate veterinary care to prevent further deterioration of health and death (Drobatz & Costello, 2010).

Abscesses are a common health problem and a frequent result of wounds to the neck, shoulders, and tail base caused by fighting between cats that become infected with bacteria (Mueller, 2020; Six et al., 2009). Abscesses are very painful (Day et al., 2016) and may also result in the spread of potentially lifethreatening infection through the cat's body (Mueller, 2020). Abscesses should always be examined by











a veterinarian or allied veterinary professional to determine the type of bacteria which is then used to inform the appropriate treatment choice (Mueller, 2020; Six et al., 2009). In addition to pain management and antibiotics, abscesses may require surgical draining and cleaning (Mueller, 2020), therefore, veterinary assistance is needed.

Difficulty breathing can be a result of several conditions and is considered a serious welfare harm (Beausoleil & Mellor, 2015; Drobatz & Costello, 2010; Sumner & Rozanski, 2013).

Repeated straining over a continuous period of 30 minutes, as if to pass urine or faeces is considered a serious health problem (Defauw et al., 2011; Jergens, 2012; Michel, 2001). A cat that has urine that is cloudy, sludgy, or contains blood is considered a serious health condition (Defauw et al., 2011).

Cats that have lost weight due to inappetence must receive veterinary care as this can be a sign of underlying health problems and will also lead to further deterioration from lack of nutrients (Taylor et al., 2022).

Cancer caused from ultraviolet radiation from the sun can cause the skin on the edge of a cat's ears or nose to ulcerate and slowly erode (Biller et al., 2016; Dorn et al., 1971; Lana et al., 1997; Murphy, 2013). Skin cancers may cause considerable pain and distress (Lana et al., 1997). If left too long this form of cancer can become untreatable, so early detection and treatment is advised (Murphy, 2013). Cats at high risk of squamous cell carcinoma benefit from preventive measures such as keeping them out of sunlight at the height of the day, using sunblock if allowed outdoors, or using ultraviolet films on windows (Murphy, 2013).

A cat caught in a live trap will likely be fearful and stressed and may be aggressive (Slater et al., 2010). Given most companion cats in New Zealand are allowed outdoors with little restrictions (Gates et al., 2019; Hall et al., 2016), it is likely that a trapped cat in areas of human habitation is a companion cat. Therefore, making a reasonable effort to identify the owner of a trapped cat should be required of any trapper.

#### 7.2 Prevention and Management of Infectious Diseases: Minimum Standard No. 17 - Prevention and Management of Infectious Diseases

Vaccination is an important means of controlling infectious diseases, such as feline panleukopaenia (FPV), feline rhinotracheitis (FVR), and feline calicivirus (FCV), feline leukaemia (FeLV), feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV), and chlamydia (Day et al., 2016; Stone et al., 2020). Veterinary advice needs to be sought regarding the most appropriate vaccination programme, as requirements vary depending on the disease, the age of the cat and the environment (Day et al., 2016; Stone et al., 2020). For example, animal shelters are considered a high-risk environment due to being a high stress environment and housing a dynamic population of animals of unknown vaccination status and an earlier and more frequent vaccination is recommend (Day et al., 2016).

Cats showing signs of eye infections, rhinitis (sneezing, runny nose, itching, congestion), and cough must receive veterinary care for evaluation and treatment to reduce the risk of deteriorating health, spread to other animals, and minimise zoonotic disease transmission (Drobatz & Costello, 2010; Lappin et al., 2019; Litster, 2021).

Areas that are high-risk situations such as animal shelters, boarding catteries, cat shows, multi-cat households, research, testing, and teaching facilities, and neighbourhoods with a dense cat population and/or a stray cat population should have programmes and controls in place to minimise and manage disease outbreaks (Day et al., 2016; ASV, 2022; Hosie et al., 2015; Stone et al., 2020; Stull et al., 2018).











Where disease is present, cleaning and disinfection protocols for housing, bedding, and equipment that has been exposed to infected cats must be followed to reduce pathogens (ASV, 2022; Karsten, 2021; Stull et al., 2018).

Fighting between cats should be minimised to reduce the spread of disease through biting (Hosie et al., 2009; Little et al., 2020).

## 7.3 Prevention and Management of Parasitic Diseases: Minimum Standard No. 18 – Prevention and Management of Parasitic Diseases

Prevention and treatment are important means of preventing discomfort and serious disease from external and internal parasites in cats (Companion Animal Parasite Council [CAPC, 2022]; Lappin et al., 2019; Rodan & Sparkes, 2012; Stone et al., 2020).

External parasites that live on the skin of a cat include fleas and mites (CAPC, 2012; 2007). Their presence may be indicated by excessive grooming, scratching, rubbing, fur loss, scabs, or scale (CAPC, 2012). Fleas or flea dirt (black coils that turn red when moistened with water) may also be seen in the coat (CAPC, 2017).

A cat can develop hypersensitivity to external parasites and show extreme skin irritation, even when parasite numbers are low (Carlotti & Jacobs, 2000).

Fleas are common and their population can increase rapidly in warm and humid environmental conditions (Rust, 2017). Most of a flea's life cycle is spent, not on the cat, but in its environment, therefore carpets and bedding should be cleaned and/or treated (Carlotti & Jacobs, 2000). Routine cleaning such as vacuuming kills fleas, their eggs, or larvae, (Carlotti & Jacobs, 2000; Hink & Needham, 2007). Where there is infestation, advice on appropriate treatment however, both environment and animals should be treated (Carlotti & Jacobs, 2000; Hnilica & Patterson, 2011). Effective treatment of fleas requires that all animals in the household, including dogs, are treated at the same time (Carlotti & Jacobs, 2000; Hnilica & Patterson, 2011).

The signs of ear mites include hair loss, dandruff and flaky skin, redness, and excessive scratching of the ears (Hnilica & Patterson, 2011; Yang & Huang, 2016). Treatment can be difficult particularly in advanced cases, and it is important to seek veterinary help at an early stage of the disease (Yang & Huang, 2016).

Internal parasites, such as intestinal worms or lungworms, are common and require regular monitoring and treatment (Rodan & Sparkes, 2012). These parasites are particularly prevalent in young cats or kittens (Rodan & Sparkes, 2012). Loss of body weight plus a tendency to a prominent belly, dry coat, and regular licking at the anus are signs that may indicate the presence of roundworms (Overgaauw, 1997). Since a queen can transmit roundworms via her milk, all kittens should be regularly wormed with an effective roundworm treatment (Rodan & Sparkes, 2012). If there are indications that a cat is infested with internal parasites, this can be confirmed by faecal examination and then treated with an anthelmintic authorised by a veterinarian (Rodan & Sparkes, 2012).

Lungworms can cause serious ill health in affected kittens. A wet, unproductive cough, which may be mistaken for an unproductive vomiting bout, can indicate the presence of lungworms in kittens (Brianti et al., 2014; Quimby et al., 2021).











Cats can be susceptible to fly strike, especially young kittens needing assistance with toileting, senior, or disabled cats that struggle with grooming or are incontinent (Pezzi et al., 2019). Fly strike occurs when flies lay their eggs on skin, especially if conditions are unsanitary or cats are unhealthy (e.g., with urine scald or matted coats that contain faeces) (Mueller, 2020; Pezzi et al., 2019).

Preventive health treatments such as deworming for round worms and hook worms or using flea and tick prevention can minimise zoonotic transmission to humans (Lappin et al., 2019). Testing for skin diseases to identify fungal disease such as ringworm can help minimise spread to humans (Lappin et al., 2019).

#### Diseases Transmissible to Humans (Zoonoses)

Some diseases (e.g., ringworm, toxoplasmosis, round worm, hook worms, disease from mites and fleas) can be transmissible between cats and other species, including humans (zoonotic diseases) (Dubey et al., 2009; Fakhri et al., 2018; Lappin et al., 2019). People who are pregnant or immunocompromised should avoid cleaning litterboxes (CAPC, 2014) or should wear gloves when cleaning up cat faeces and wash their hands thoroughly afterwards if there is concern of toxoplasmosis transmission (Lappin et al., 2019).

#### 7.4 Care of Claws and Coat: Minimum Standard No. 19 – Care of Claws and Coat

Long-haired cats should be regularly groomed to remove excess fur (Cannas et al., 2020; McDonald et al., 2022; Rodan & Sparkes, 2012). A neglected coat can cause considerable distress to long-haired cats due to matting (McDonald et al., 2022). Hygiene around the perineum, anus and tail is particularly important in all cats to reduce soiling and the risk of flystrike (Pezzi et al., 2019).

Hair mats can harbour external parasites and dermatitis is likely to develop in the underlying skin (Bowman et al., 2021). Mats may be gently brushed out by the owner, but care should be taken in case the cat finds this stressful (Cannas et al., 2020). But when matting is severe, cat owners should seek expert assistance (Cannas et al., 2020; McDonald et al., 2022).

A cat's claws need attention if they have become overgrown. Such claws should be trimmed carefully, while avoiding damage to the guick which will result in pain and bleeding (Rodan & Sparkes, 2012). Veterinarians, veterinary nurses, or professional groomers can assist and advise on trimming claws (Rodan & Sparkes, 2012). It is important cats are provided access to scratching posts to help maintain claw health (Rodan & Sparkes, 2012).

#### 7.5 Toxic and Harmful Substances: Minimum Standard No. 20 – Toxic and Harmful **Substances**

Cats can be poisoned by many substances including plants (indoor and outdoor), household and garden chemicals such as pest management toxins, lead paints or objects, and timbers treated with arsenic. Cats can also have adverse reactions to common topical products such as shampoos and grooming sprays, or medicines such as antibiotics, drinking water polluted with toxins such as sheep dip, horticultural sprays, anticoagulation poisons, or antifreeze (Cortinovis & Caloni, 2016; Fitzgerald et al., 2006; Grave & Boag, 2010; Knight & Kumar, 2003; Lizarraga & Parton, 2021).

Confirmed or suspected poisoning in cats requires immediate veterinary care (Drobatz & Costello, 2010; Grave & Boag, 2010).











#### 7.6 Care of Older Cats: Minimum Standard No. 21 - Care of Older Cats

A cat that reaches a senior age (ten or eleven years and older) may require extra care and attention (Dhaliwal et al., 2023; Quimby et al., 2021; Ray et al., 2021; Vogt et al., 2010). Some diseases occurring in an older cat may be interpreted by the owner as part of the natural ageing process (Ray et al., 2021). For many owners, a cat's senior years are a significant part of their life together, and healthcare decisions will need to consider the emotional, spiritual, and physical aspects of the owner and cat relationship (Dhaliwal et al., 2023).

An older cat may benefit from specially formulated diets (Ray et al., 2021).

Kidney disease, oral disease, diabetes, hyperthyroidism, heart disease, cancer and arthritis are some of the serious diseases that can occur in an older cat (Ray et al., 2021). Weight loss, excessive drinking or urination, increased or decreased appetite, and increased or decreased activity may be seen with these conditions (Ray et al., 2021).

Floor coverings, extra litter boxes, more ground floor space (rather than multiple levels and ramps), better traction, and soft bedding will improve the comfort of an older cat (Ellis et al., 2013; Ray et al., 2021).

Older cats may sometimes show signs of cognitive dysfunction syndrome (Ray et al., 2021). Signs include confusion or disorientation, changes in sleep patterns, house soiling, changes in interactions with other animals or people in the home, change in diet, activity, and memory, aimless wandering or pacing, and increased anxiety and irritability (Ray et al., 2021). A management plan can be developed in consultation with a veterinarian to improve quality of life (Quimby et al., 2021; Ray et al., 2021).

#### **PART 8:**

## Behaviour, Enrichment, and Training



#### 8.1 Behaviour: Minimum Standard No. 22 – Behaviour

Preventing behavioural problems and early intervention if problems occur is essential in supporting the owner-cat relationship (Carney et al., 2014; Ellis et al., 2013; Gazzano et al., 2015; Hammerle et al., 2015; Overall et al., 2005). Physical punishment of cats and kittens (e.g., as a means of toilet training) may result in the development of either excessive timidity or aggression in the cat (Bradshaw, 2018).

Cats will have individual differences in how social they are with other cats (Bradshaw, 2016; Crowell-Davis et al., 2004; Finka et al., 2014; Ramos et al., 2013). Cats that grow up together can remain compatible throughout their lives (Bradshaw, 2016). Several studies have found conflicting results when comparing cat behaviour and stress between single and multi-cat confined settings. These studies have limitations in terms of design and outcome measures leading to difficulty in interpretation, however recommendations for practice for cats in confined environments include single housing, minimising environment changes, and only group cats that know each other are housed in stable groups (Finka et al., 2014).











Problem behaviours are behaviours considered a problem by the owner and can include behaviours such as spraying, scratching, and aggression in response to environmental changes (Casey & Bradshaw, 2008).

Human directed cat aggression is considered a common problem (Amat & Manteca, 2019; Mikkola et al., 2022; Wassink-van der Schot et al., 2016). Risk factors for human-directed aggression include poor socialisation with humans (Mikkola et al., 2022), being a sole cat (Ahola et al., 2017; Amat et al., 2009; Mikkola et al., 2022), age and breed (Mikkola et al., 2022) early weaning (Ahola et al., 2017), and lack of outdoor access (Heidenberger, 1997). Aggression can be indicative of welfare concerns such as stress and fear (Amat & Manteca, 2019; Mikkola et al., 2022).

Human-directed aggression is also a common reason for owner surrender to shelters (Hawes et al., 2020; Zito et al., 2016). Owner compliance with treatment programmes is essential in addressing abnormal or problem behaviours in cats (Casey & Bradshaw, 2008).

To help ensure cats experience positive welfare, they must be provided opportunities to express normal behaviours such as hiding, climbing, scratching, and marking (see further discussion in the section on enrichment) (Amat et al., 2016). Owners or persons in charge who spend more time with their cat, including playing with them and grooming them, increase positive experiences for cats (Ellis et al., 2013; Oliveira et al., 2023; Rehnberg et al., 2015).

Promoting play behaviour can promote positive emotions (Boissy et al., 2007) and promote positive interactions between cats and people (Henning et al., 2023; Kogan & Grigg, 2021).

Normal cat behaviours such as the clawing of furniture and urine spraying can be seen as problematic (Bradshaw, 2018; Casey & Bradshaw, 2008; Cisneros et al., 2022). Perceived behavioural issues such as scratching furniture, soiling in the house, and excessive vocalisation are higher in confined cats (Sandøe et al., 2017; Schubnel & Arpaillange, 2008).

Cats can be territorial (Bradshaw, 2018; Bradshaw, 2016). Companion cats can adapt well to diurnal and nocturnal lifestyles based on human influence (Bradshaw, 2018; Piccione et al., 2013).

Behavioural disorders are often due to a cat feeling fearful or experiencing anxiety (Mikkola et al., 2022). Aggressive and/or irritable behaviour may also have a medical basis, be age-related or be due to inappropriate handling (Rodan, 2010; Rodan et al., 2011; Taylor, St Denis, et al., 2022). Inappropriate urination and defecation may also indicate a medical problem or may be associated with stress in a cat in a multi-cat household, neighbour or unknown cats entering a cat's territory, insufficient changing of the cat litter or difficulty of access to the outdoors (Carney et al., 2014; Ellis et al., 2017a; Heath, 2019; Neilson, 2004).

Where a behavioural problem occurs, it is important to look at all aspects of the cat and their living situation and advice should be obtained from a feline behaviour expert (Shore et al., 2008). Sometimes, medication or pheromones coupled with behavioural interventions may be used to help modify a behaviour (Amat et al., 2016; Denenberg & Dubé, 2018; Vitale, 2018).

Provision of litter type and litter box type should be based on cat preference and potential risks of behavioural and health risks including:

 Cats prefer sand-like, small grain litter (Borchelt, 1991; (Villeneuve-Beugnet & Beugnet, 2018). Cats prefer clay or silica substrate over plant-based litters (Villeneuve-Beugnet & Beugnet, 2018).











- There is conflicting evidence as to whether cats prefer scent-free litter (Horwitz, 1997) or do not have a preference (Neilson, 2011; Sung & Crowell-Davis, 2006).
- Cats prefer clumping litter (Borchelt, 1991; Neilson, 2001), and non-clumping litter is associated with an increased risk of cats being diagnosed with feline idiopathic cystitis compared to cats using clumping litter (Kim et al., 2018). Clumping litter is often recommended as best practices for preventing unwanted elimination (Carney et al., 2014; Heath, 2019; Quimby et al., 2021). However, anecdotal reports exist about the risks of intestinal blockages if cats or kittens ingest clumping litter. It has been suggested to avoid using clumping litter for cats with polyuria (Overall et al., 2005).
- Any change in litter should be gradual to allow a cat to adjust (Frayne et al., 2022).

Litter trays should be of adequate size (at least 1.5 length of a cat) to accommodate their entire body, allow a cat to dig and squat comfortably, and have enough litter to allow a cat to fully bury their faeces and urine (Carney et al., 2014; Gazzano et al., 2015; Guy et al., 2014; Villeneuve-Beugnet & Beugnet, 2018). Litter boxes should be accessible for a cat at any life-stage or physical ability (e.g., they have trouble climbing) (Quimby et al., 2021).

Cats should be provided different options for a litter tray as they may prefer an open top or enclosed tray (Beugnet & Beugnet, 2020; Grigg et al., 2013).

A cat may not be deterred from using the same litter box as another cat however, it is critical that the litterboxes are kept clean (Ellis et al., 2017a; Guy et al., 2014; Neilson, 2004). In multi-cat settings it is considered best practice to provide at least one litter box per cat plus an additional box and these should be spread out in their living area to prevent one cat controlling access to them (Carney et al., 2014; Grigg et al., 2013; Neilson, 2004).

Cats restricted from the outdoors are at increased risk of behavioural problems likely related to frustration and boredom (reviewed by Tan et al., 2020). Observations of cat behaviour whilst outdoors such as predation, travelling, exploring, exercising, climbing, perching, and monitoring surroundings indicate there is a welfare benefit for cats to have access outside (see Tan et al., 2020).

A cat's behavioural needs can be met in enriched indoor environments or outdoor housing, or in a garden with an escape proof fence (de Assis & Mills, 2021).

#### 8.2 Enrichment: Minimum Standard No. 23 - Enrichment

Enrichment is the provision of objects or activities that give opportunities for animals to express behaviours, actively engage with their environment, and socialise (Špinka & Wemelsfelder, 2011), which allow animals to engage inexperiences that they may find rewarding (Mellor, 2017).

Provision of enrichment is important for all cats. Providing cats with enrichment helps promote normal development, provides opportunities for positive mental and emotional experiences, and reduces the risk of developing abnormal or unwanted behaviours.

Enrichment can promote positive experiences by providing a cat with opportunities to voluntarily engage in behaviour that they find rewarding or pleasurable (Mellor, 2017) Enrichment can fall into five categories; social (e.g., social play with humans or other companion animals), physical (e.g., toys), nutritional (e.g., food puzzles or scatter feeding), sensory (e.g., opportunities to explore new smells), and occupational (e.g., training) (Bloomsmith et al., 1991; Rochlitz, 2005).











Confined cats require enrichment to allow the performance of behaviours that are important for positive mental and emotional experience such as foraging, hunting, climbing, perching, hiding, marking, and scratching and also to prevent boredom, reduce the risk of developing unwanted behaviours, and facilitate weight management (Boissy et al., 2007; Cisneros et al., 2022; Ellis et al., 2013; Lawson et al., 2020; Rochlitz, 2005).

Keeping cats at home may result in negative health and welfare issues for cats, such as obesity, stress and stress-related health and behavioural issues (Herron & Buffington, 2010; Sandøe et al., 2017; Tan et al., 2020; Zoran & Buffington, 2011). Owner-perceived behavioural issues such as scratching furniture, soiling in the house, and excessive vocalisation are higher in confined cats (Sandøe et al., 2017; Schubnel & Arpaillange, 2008) and should be cause for concern in promoting more confined lifestyles for cats without concurrent promotion of enrichment strategies to mitigate problems.

All cats should be given regular opportunities to forage, explore, and play (Ellis, 2009; Ellis et al., 2017b; Ellis & Wells, 2010; Herron & Buffington, 2010). This can be facilitated in numerous ways:

- Providing hideouts, tunnels (Ellis, 2009; Herron & Buffington, 2010).
- Using treat balls, placing food around the home or enclosure, and having toys that simulate chasing and stalking will encourage natural hunting behaviours (Ellis, 2009).
- Human interaction, for example through training or playing with toys, can also be enriching for cats. Interactions between cats and humans should be on the cat's terms, and they should be able to end them at any point (Ellis et al., 2013; Rehnberg et al., 2015).
- Training cats can be used to facilitate normal behaviours such as exploration (Bollen, 2015) which
  may be a feasible option for supervised access outdoors where no other options exist (see the
  section on Training for more information).

Toys and furniture should be switched around every now and again to provide cats with novelty and variety (Rochlitz, 2005). However, care should be taken to not entirely remove items or clean areas so that their scent markings are removed (Ellis et al., 2013).

Enrichment items must be non-toxic and not cause injury (Ellis et al., 2013). The impact of enrichments on the cats' physical and mental wellbeing should be monitored so that enrichment should be removed or changed if the outcome is negative (Ellis, 2009). Enrichment items should not overcrowd the space available for cats to move. Enrichment should be presented as a choice which allows individuals to express subjective preferences which can also vary with the context (Ellis et al., 2013). Enrichment items such as laser pointers may be frustrating for a cat (i.e., when they cannot 'catch' the point), therefore, caution should be exercised when using these devices (Kogan & Grigg, 2021).

#### 8.3 Training Cats: Minimum Standard No. 24 – Training Cats

A cat can be trained using reward-based methods such as positive reinforcement and use of food, praise, petting, and play (Gruen et al., 2013; Kogan et al., 2017; Lockhart et al., 2013; Pratsch et al., 2018; Riemer et al., 2021).

Training animals can help reduce stress for both the cat and the person associated with certain situations such as entering a travel crate, being handled, having blood drawn, and having nails trimmed (Gruen et al., 2013; Lockhart et al., 2013; Pratsch et al., 2018; Rodan et al., 2022).







Training a cat to walk on a harness can facilitate normal behaviours such as exploring the outdoors (Bollen, 2015). However, this needs to be at a pace that respects the cat's comfort level and ability to learn (Bollen, 2015; Rodan et al., 2022).

Training is also a form of enrichment which can mentally and physically stimulate a cat, facilitate exercise, and provide an opportunity for the cat and human to bond (Kogan et al., 2017).

Cats can be easily frightened or stressed when handling and training takes place (Riemer et al., 2021; Rodan et al., 2022). Aversive training techniques or equipment such yelling at a cat or spraying a cat to stop or prevent unwanted behaviour should not be used (Amat et al., 2016; Rodan, 2010).

#### PART 9:

## **Transporting Cats**



#### Minimum Standard No. 25 - Transporting Cats

Adult cats may show varying degrees of anxiety when confined in a cat-carry container and transported in a vehicle (Gruen et al., 2013; Pratsch et al., 2018; Riemer et al., 2021). To ensure the safety of both the cat and the occupants of the vehicle, and occupants of other vehicles, cats must be securely contained while being transported in a vehicle (Center for Pet Safety, n.d; Swallow et al., 2005). Unless the crate has been safety tested, do not use the seat belt to secure it; the crate is more secure on the floor behind one of the front seats (Center for Pet Safety, n.d).

Cats must be prepared for transport to prevent or mitigate the welfare consequences that they may experience related to transport, such as handling stress, injuries, restriction of movement, sensory overstimulation, motion stress, heat stress, cold stress, prolonged hunger and prolonged thirst (Pratsch et al., 2018; Riemer et al., 2021; Rodan et al., 2022; Tateo et al., 2022).

Providing a cat with a place to hide and with objects or bedding that have the cat's odour can help minimise stress during travel can old be provided with space to hide in their travel container (Pratsch et al., 2017; Taylor et al., 2022).

Cats should be transported within a suitable carry container which keeps them confined but comfortable (Taylor et al., 2022). Cat-carry containers should be constructed from fibreglass, metal, rigid plastic, weld metal mesh (although the weld metal mesh should not be at the bottom of the container to protect the cats' feet), solid wood, or plywood (International Air Transport Association [IATA], 2023, Swallow et al., 2005). Containers made of sturdy reinforced fabric may be suitable for certain cats and where cats are monitored to ensure they have not chewed or clawed through the fabric. Ensure a cloth container has strong connection points between the handles and the body of the crate and where mesh panels are attached to the body of the crate (Center for Pet Safety, 2015).

Containers should be well-ventilated (Tateo et al., 2022; Taylor et al., 2022). A cloth covering the container (provided it does not impede ventilation) may help some cats to travel with less stress (Taylor et al., 2022).

Care needs to be taken when transporting cats by car. The temperature in a closed vehicle in full sun can reach over 50 degrees Celsius in less than fifteen minutes (King et al., 1981; McLaren et al., 2005; Roberts













& Roberts, 1976). Temperatures will rise to dangerous levels even on overcast days and cracking open the windows does not slow the rate of temperature increase (King et al., 1981; McLaren et al., 2005; Roberts & Roberts, 1976). Cats will begin to show signs of heat stress, such as panting, at temperatures of 40 degrees Celsius (Baker, 1972).

Transporting cats over long distances, either by road or by air, have additional requirements such as appropriate ventilation, provision of water, and litter box (IATA, 2023).

Sedating a cat for transportation is not recommended, but medication for anxiety or nausea may be beneficial (Tateo et al., 2022; Taylor et al., 2022).

## **PART 10:** Humane Killing\*



#### Minimum Standard No. 26 – Humane Killing

It is an offence under Section 12(c) of the Act to kill an animal in such a manner that they suffer unreasonable or unnecessary pain or distress. A humane killing requires brain activity to cease as rapidly and painlessly as possible, with death ensuing as soon as possible (as defined in other codes of welfare).

Euthanasia is the induction of a painless and rapid death where this is for the benefit of the animal (e.g., to mitigate suffering). The preferred method of euthanasia for cats is by a veterinarian using an intravenous injection of a drug registered for this purpose, in accordance with the American Veterinary Medical Association Guidelines for Euthanasia (2020).

The Act provides for the euthanasia of a severely injured or sick cat by a veterinarian where in their opinion, the animal should be killed because reasonable treatment will not be sufficient to make the animal respond, and the animal will suffer unreasonable or unnecessary pain or distress if it continues to live (Animal Welfare Act, 1999). A veterinarian may euthanise a cat without the permission of the owner, where the owner cannot be found within a reasonable time or where the owner does not agree to the euthanasia but does not obtain a secondary opinion from a veterinarian within a reasonable time. A warranted inspector or auxiliary officer under the Act (e.g., an SPCA inspector or auxiliary officer) may also perform this task; or provide authority to a veterinarian to destroy an animal. however, it is preferable that euthanasia be performed by a veterinarian if immediately available (Animal Welfare Act, 1999).

It is an offence to kill a cat of any age by drowning. Drowning is not a humane death (AVMA, 2020; Beausoleil & Mellor, 2015). Drowning causes a series of physiological and chemical responses in the body resulting in fast and lasting decrease of oxygen in the blood, ingestion of liquid in the airways, acidosis, and high levels of carbon dioxide in the blood; all these symptoms an animal experiences while conscious (Beausoleil & Mellor, 2015; McEwen & Gerdin, 2016). Drowning leads to severe 'air hunger', which is considered the most unpleasant affective state associated with breathlessness (Beausoleil & Mellor, 2015).

\*Please note: Section titles are set by NAWAC. SPCA prefers the term 'End of Life'.











Killing a cat using carbon monoxide is only considered acceptable for euthanasia with the conditions that require personnel are trained on the hazards of its use, proper equipment that is of high quality construction, in a controlled environment that is monitored for hazards, is compliant with local laws, and the carbon monoxide is a purified form free from contaminants or adulterants (AVMA, 2020). Using car exhaust as a source of carbon monoxide to kill a cat is not humane due to the prolonged period to death, and signs of agitation prior to loss of consciousness (AVMA, 2020; Simonsen et al., 1981).

Lethal traps should cause irreversible loss of consciousness and death as quickly and painlessly as possible and avoid catching non-target animals. Only traps that have passed welfare performance testing should be used such as the NAWAC Guideline 09 (NAWAC, 2019).

A humane shooting should result in the shortest period between when the animal is shot and when they experience irreversible loss of consciousness followed by death (Aebischer et al., 2014; Sharp & Saunders, 2012b; Stokke et al., 2018). Best practices to ensure a humane shooting include (Aebischer et al., 2014; Sharp, 2012):

- shooters are competent and can clearly identify the animal before taking a shot.
- the correct firearm, ammunition, range, and shot placement is used.
- a wounded animal is promptly killed; and
- if lactating animals are killed, efforts are made to find and humanely kill her offspring. All efforts should be made to avoid peak kitten season.

#### **PART 11:**

## **Contingency Planning**



#### Minimum Standard No. 27 – Contingency Planning

Contingency plans for emergencies such as natural events (e.g., earthquakes, floods, fires, storms, snow or drought, biosecurity events and infrastructure failures) need to be in place to ensure the welfare of animals (Glassey, 2022).

Civil Defence and Emergency Management (CDEM) encourage all owners and persons in charge of a cat should develop their own plan to care for emergencies (Ministry of Civil Defence and Emergency Management, 2015). Planning for emergencies can protect both animal and human welfare. The willingness of people to evacuate in emergencies is heavily impacted by their ability to evacuate their companion animals (Glassey, 2022). Preparing for emergencies can protect animal welfare by avoiding problems to begin with and help minimise welfare such as thirst, hunger, disease, and exposure to hazards such as extreme weather (Glassey, 2022). It is well recognised by international and national groups that emergency planning and assembling an animal specific evacuation kit for cats is part of responsible cat ownership (AVMA, 2016; NZVA, 2018, NCMSG, 2020). Access to crates is imperative to facilitating improved response in emergencies (Glassey, 2022).











#### **PART 12:**

## **Stray Cats in Managed Colonies**



#### Minimum Standard No. 28 – Cats Living in Managed Colonies

Cat colony management plans need to include means of identification of cats; provision of food, water, and shelter; a vaccination and parasite programme; provision of veterinary treatment; a desexing programme; and a long-term management strategy including continuity of care.

Desexed stray cats have been found to have better welfare compared to intact cats (Gunther, et al., 2018). Improved health for both male and female cats in managed colonies may be related to decreased risk of infectious disease, nutritional deficiencies, and stress associated with reproduction (Gilhofer et al., 2019) and reduced reproduction related aggression in males (Cafazzo et al., 2019; Finkler et al., 2011; Gunther et al., 2018).

Success in decreasing a cat colony, including to extinction, using trap-neuter-return varies (Jones & Downs, 2011; Kilgour et al., 2017; Levy et al., 2014; Slater 2015). Some studies report declines in colony size (Levy et al., 2003; Natoli et al., 2006), whereas others report an increase in colony size over time (Castillo, 2003; Gunther et al., 2011). An increasing body of evidence indicates that long-term TNR programmes can effectively reduce free-roaming cat populations, especially those programmes that include an adoption programme, monitoring, and desexing of new cats arriving at the colony (Hughes & Slater 2002; Kilgour et al., 2017; Levy et al., 2003; Spehar & Wolf, 2019; Stoskopf & Nutter, 2004).

Population modelling suggests that 75-80% of adult breeding cats in a colony need to be desexed to see a decrease in the cat population (Foley et al., 2005; McCarthy et al., 2013; Miller et al., 2014). However, the percentage of cats that need to be desexed to result in population reduction will depend on many factors including the mean lifespan of cats in the colony, migration rates, population density, urbanisation, climate, availability of resources, and other environmental factors (Boone, 2015; Kilgour et al., 2017; Miller et al., 2014; Schmidt et al., 2009).

A colony will require monitoring for any new cats that immigrate into the area to ensure they are provided care, desexed, and identified. Colony size increases are more likely when there are high rates stray or abandoned cats entering the colony from strays or abandoned owned cats (McCarthy et al., 2013; Miller et al., 2014, Natoli et al., 2006).

#### Part 13: Welfare Assurance System: No Minimum Standard

## 7. How will the code change existing arrangements for the management of the species or activity in question?

The Code of Welfare for Cats will improve the existing arrangements for cats so that their physical, health, behavioural, mental, and emotional needs are better met to help ensure good welfare.

8. What impacts will the code have on those people affected by it (for example, benefits, compliance costs, risks)? Which sector/groups of people will be impacted the most, and how?











The Code of Welfare for Cats will have the biggest impact on companion cat owners, breeders, and those who provide care in managed colonies. There are many more Minimum Standards in this Code that will require more responsible behaviour from those who are acquiring a cat and those who are supplying them. Additionally, the Minimum Standards for managed stray cats will most impact those individuals and organisations that care for cats, as this will need to be more documentation of desexing, microchipping, and provision of veterinary care.

We want to point NAWAC to the responses from diverse stakeholders related to minimum standards. In many instances there is support for microchipping, desexing, and cat colony management. For other standards, such as those related to scruffing there is concern expressed. We think the broad support for many of the minimum standards signals New Zealanders want to progress these issues to advance cat welfare and reduce the negative impacts of cat overpopulation. We have highlighted comments related to Minimum Standards in grey in Table 2. There are concerns with how they will be enforced and the associated costs, however, in general, these are seen as positive for cat welfare and responsible cat ownership.

## 9. Who have you consulted? What feedback did you receive?

The draft Code was sent out to 205 organisations and individuals representing people likely to be impacted by the Code. We have consulted a range of stakeholders representing cat owners, veterinarians, rescue organisations, breeders, cat behaviour experts, the legal profession, the pet industry, those with an interest in protecting biodiversity, and local government.

All feedback received through targeted consultation was provided to NAWAC verbatim.

## 10. Were any significant issues raised about your draft code? How were these issues addressed and if they did not alter your draft code, why not?

All feedback received through targeted consultation was reviewed and responded to. The draft code submitted to NAWAC was revised accordingly.











## References

- Adams, T., Morgan, M. L., Hunter, W. S., & Holmes, K. R. (1970). Temperature regulation of the unanesthetized cat during mild cold and severe heat stress. Journal of Applied Physiology, 29(6), 852-858. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1970.29.6.852">https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1970.29.6.852</a>
- Aebischer, N. J., Wheatley, C. J., & Rose, H. R. (2014). Factors associated with shooting accuracy and wounding rate of four managed wild deer species in the UK, based on anonymous field records from deer stalkers. PLoS ONE, 9(10), Article e109698. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0109698
- Ahola, M. K., Vapalahti, K., & Lohi, H. (2017). Early weaning increases aggression and stereotypic behaviour in cats. Scientific Reports, 7, Article 10412. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41598-017-11173-5
- Alberthsen, C., Rand, J., Morton, J., Bennett, P., Paterson, M., & Vankan, D. (2016). Numbers and characteristics of cats admitted to Royal Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals (RSPCA) shelters in Australia and reasons for surrender. Animals, 6(3), Article 23. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani6030023
- Alberthsen, C., Rand, J. S., Bennett, P. C., Paterson, M., Lawrie, M., & Morton, J. M. (2013). Cat admissions to RSPCA shelters in Queensland, Australia: Description of cats and risk factors for euthanasia after entry. Australian Veterinary Journal, 91(1–2), 35–42. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/avj.12013">https://doi.org/10.1111/avj.12013</a>
- Alho, A. M., Pontes, J., & Pomba, C. (2016). Guardians' knowledge and husbandry practices of feline environmental enrichment. Journal of Applied Animal Welfare Science, 19(2), 115–125. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/10888705.2015.1117976">https://doi.org/10.1080/10888705.2015.1117976</a>
- Amat, M., Camps, T., & Manteca, X. (2016). Stress in owned cats: Behavioural changes and welfare implications. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 18(8), 577-586. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X15590867">https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X15590867</a>
- Amat, M., de la Torre, J. L. R., Fatjó, J., Mariotti, V. M., Van Wijk, S., & Manteca, X. (2009). Potential risk factors associated with feline behaviour problems. Applied Animal Behaviour Science, 121(2), 134–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2009.09.012
- Amat, M., & Manteca, X. (2019). Common feline problem behaviours: Owner-directed aggression. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 21(3), 245–255. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X19831206">https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X19831206</a>
- American Animal Hospital Association. (2011). Raw protein diet. <a href="https://www.aaha.org/about-aaha/aaha-position-statements/raw-protein-diet/">https://www.aaha.org/about-aaha/aaha-position-statements/raw-protein-diet/</a>
- American Veterinary Medical Association. (2016). Guidelines for Responsible Pet Ownership. <a href="www.avma.org/KB/Policies/Pages/Guidelines-for-Responsible-PetOwnership.aspx">www.avma.org/KB/Policies/Pages/Guidelines-for-Responsible-PetOwnership.aspx</a>
- American Veterinary Medical Association. (2020). AVMA Guidelines for the euthanasia of animals: 2020 edition. <a href="https://www.avma.org/sites/default/files/2020-02/Guidelines-on-Euthanasia-2020.pdf">https://www.avma.org/sites/default/files/2020-02/Guidelines-on-Euthanasia-2020.pdf</a>
- Arena, L., Menchetti, L., Diverio, S., Guardini, G., Gazzano, A., & Mariti, C. (2021). Overweight in domestic cats living in urban areas of Italy: Risk factors for an emerging welfare issue. Animals, 11(8), Article 2246. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11082246



- Arhant, C., Heizmann, V., Schauberger, G., & Windschnurer, I. (2022). Risks and benefits of collar use in cats (Felis catus): A literature review. Journal of Veterinary Behavior 55-56, 35-47. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2022.07.012">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2022.07.012</a>
- Aronsohn, M. G., & Faggella, A. M. (1993). Surgical techniques for neutering 6- to 14-week-old kittens. Journal of American Veterinary Medical Association, 202(1), 53–55. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.1993.202.01.53">https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.1993.202.01.53</a>
- Association of American Feed Control Officials. (2015). AFFCO methods for substantiating nutritional adequacy of dog and cat foods. <a href="https://www.aafco.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/Model\_Bills\_and\_Regulations\_Agenda\_Midyear\_2015\_Final\_Attachment\_A.\_Proposed\_revisions\_to\_AAFCO\_Nutrient\_Profiles\_PFC\_Final\_070214.pdf">https://www.aafco.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/Model\_Bills\_and\_Regulations\_Agenda\_Midyear\_2015\_Final\_Attachment\_A.\_Proposed\_revisions\_to\_AAFCO\_Nutrient\_Profiles\_PFC\_Final\_070214.pdf</a>
- Association of Shelter Veterinarians. (2022). The Association of Shelter Veterinarians' guidelines for standards of care in animal shelters (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). Journal of the Shelter Medicine & Community Health. <a href="https://doi.org/10.56771/ASVquidelines.2022">https://doi.org/10.56771/ASVquidelines.2022</a>
- Baker, M. A. (1972). Influence of the carotid rete on brain temperature in cats exposed to hot environments. The Journal of Physiology, 220(3), 711-728. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1972.sp009731
- Barrs, V. R., Gunew, M., Foster, S. F., Beatty, J. A., & Malik, R. (2001). Prevalence of autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease in Persian cats and related-breeds in Sydney and Brisbane. Australian Veterinary Journal, 79(4), 257-259. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-0813.2001.tb11977.x
- Bateson, P. (2014). Behavioural development in the cat. In D. C. Turner & P. Bateson (Eds.), The domestic cat: The biology of its behaviour (3rd ed.) (pp. 11-26). Cambridge University Press.
- Beausoleil, N. J., & Mellor, D. J. (2015). Introducing breathlessness as a significant animal welfare issue. New Zealand Veterinary Journal, 63(1), 44-51. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/00480169.2014.940410">https://doi.org/10.1080/00480169.2014.940410</a>
- Bellei, E., Dalla, F., Masetti, L., Pisoni, L., & Joechler, M. (2008). Surgical therapy in chronic feline gingivostomatitis (FCGS). Veterinary Research Communications, 32(Suppl. 1), 231-234. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11259-008-9153-8">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11259-008-9153-8</a>
- Beugnet, V. V., & Beugnet, F. (2020). Field assessment in single-housed cats of litter box type (covered/uncovered) preferences for defecation. Journal of Veterinary Behavior, 36, 65-69. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2019.05.002">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2019.05.002</a>
- Biller, B., Berg, J., Garrett, L., Ruslander, D., Wearing, R., Abbott, B., Patel, M., Smith, D., & Bryan, C. (2016). 2016 AAHA oncology guidelines for dogs and cats. Journal of the American Animal Hospital Association, 52(4), 181-204. https://doi.org/10.5326/JAAHA-MS-6570
- Bjornvad, C. R., Nielsen, D. H., Armstrong, P. J., McEvoy, F., Hoelmkjaer, K. M., Jensen, K. S., Pedersen, G. F., & Kristensen, A. T. (2011). Evaluation of a nine-point body condition scoring system in physically inactive pet cats. American Journal of Veterinary Research, 72(4), 433-437. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2460/ajvr.72.4.433">https://doi.org/10.2460/ajvr.72.4.433</a>
- Bloomsmith, M. A., Brent, L. Y., & Schapiro, S. J. (1991). Guidelines for developing and managing an environmental enrichment program for nonhuman primates. Laboratory Animal Science, 41(4), 372-377.



- Boissy, A., Manteuffel, G., Jensen, M. B., Moe, R. O., Spruijt, B., Keeling, L. J., Winckler, C., Forkman, B., Dimitrov, I., Langbein, J., Bakken, M., Veissier, I., & Aubert, A. (2007). Assessment of positive emotions in animals to improve their welfare. Physiology and Behavior, 92(3), 375-397. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2007.02.003">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2007.02.003</a>
- Bollen, K. (2015). Training and behavior modification for shelter cats. In E. Weiss, H. Mohan-Gibbons, & S. Zawistowsk (Eds.), Animal behavior for shelter veterinarians and staff (pp. 250–266). John Wiley & Sons.
- Boone, J. D. (2015). Better trap-neuter-return for free-roaming cats: Using models and monitoring to improve population management. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 17, 800–807.
- Borchelt, P. L. (1991). Cat elimination behavior problems. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Small Animal Practice, 21(2), 257-264. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/S0195-5616(91)50031-0">https://doi.org/10.1016/S0195-5616(91)50031-0</a>
- Bowman, D. D., Lucio-Forster, A., & Janeczko, S. (2021). External Parasites. In L. Miller, S. Janeczko, & K.F. Hurley (Eds.), Infectious disease management in animal shelters, (2<sup>nd</sup> ed)(pp. 443–461). Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119294382.ch19
- Boyd, E. M. (1944). Experimental ammonia gas poisoning in rabbits and cats. Journal of Industrial Hygiene and Toxicology, 26(1), 29-34.
- Bradshaw, J. (2018). Normal feline behaviour: ... and why problem behaviours develop. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 20(5), 411-421. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X18771203
- Bradshaw, J. W. S. (2016). Sociality in cats: A comparative review. Journal of Veterinary Behavior: Clinical Applications and Research, 11, 113-124. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2015.09.004">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2015.09.004</a>
- Brianti, E., Giannetto, S., Dantas-Torres, F., & Otranto, D. (2014). Lungworms of the genus Troglostrongylus (Strongylida: Crenosomatidae): Neglected parasites for domestic cats. Veterinary Parasitology, 202(3–4), 104-112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetpar.2014.01.019
- Bruce, S. J., Zito, S., Gates, M. C., Aguilar, G., Walker, J. K., Goldwater, N., & Dale, A. (2019). Predation and risk behaviors of free-roaming owned cats in Auckland, New Zealand via the use of animal-borne cameras. Frontiers in Veterinary Science, 6, Article 205. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2019.00205">https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2019.00205</a>
- Buckley, C., Colyer, A., Skrzywanek, M., Jodkowska, K., Kurski, G., Gawor, J., & Ceregrzyn, M. (2011a). The impact of home-prepared diets and home oral hygiene on oral health in cats and dogs. British Journal of Nutrition, 106(Suppl. 1), 124-127. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0007114511000821
- Buckley, C. M. F., Hawthorne, A., Colyer, A., & Stevenson, A. E. (2011b). Effect of dietary water intake on urinary output, specific gravity and relative supersaturation for calcium oxalate and struvite in the cat. British Journal of Nutrition, 106(Suppl. 1), 128-130. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0007114511001875
- Buff, P. R., Carter, R. A., Bauer, J. E., & Kersey, J. H. (2014). Natural pet food: A review of natural diets and their impact on canine and feline physiology. Journal Animal Science, 92, 3781-3791. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2527/jas2014-7789">https://doi.org/10.2527/jas2014-7789</a>
- Burns, C. C., Redding, L. E., & Watson, B. (2020). The effects of frequency and duration of handling on the development of feline upper respiratory infections in a shelter setting. Animals, 10(10), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani10101828



- Bushby, P. A, & Griffin, B.(2011). An overview of pediatric spay and neuter benefits and techniques. <a href="https://www.dvm360.com/view/overview-pediatric-spay-and-neuter-benefits-and-techniques">https://www.dvm360.com/view/overview-pediatric-spay-and-neuter-benefits-and-techniques</a>
- Cafazzo, S., Bonanni, R., & Natoli, E. (2019). Neutering effects on social behaviour of urban unowned free-roaming domestic cats. Animals, 9(12), Article 1105. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9121105
- Calver, M. C., Adams, G., Clark, W., & Pollock, K. H. (2013). Assessing the safety of collars used to attach predation deterrent devices and ID tags to pet cats. Animal Welfare, 22(1), 95-105. <a href="https://doi.org/10.7120/09627286.22.1.095">https://doi.org/10.7120/09627286.22.1.095</a>
- Calver, M. C., & Thomas, S. R. (2011). Effectiveness of the Liberator<sup>™</sup> in reducing predation on wildlife by domestic cats. Pacific Conservation Biology, 16(4), 244-250. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1071/PC110244">https://doi.org/10.1071/PC110244</a>
- Calver, M., Thomas, S., Bradley, S., & McCutcheon, H. (2007). Reducing the rate of predation on wildlife by pet cats: The efficacy and practicability of collar-mounted pounce protectors. Biological Conservation, 137(3), 341-348. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2007.02.015">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2007.02.015</a>
- Cannas, S., Mattiello, S., Battini, M., Ingraffia, S. I., Cadoni, D., & Palestrini, C. (2020). Evaluation of Maine Coon cat behavior during three different management situations. Journal of Veterinary Behavior, 37, 93-100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2019.12.004
- Carlotti, D. N., & Jacobs, D. E. (2000). Therapy, control and prevention of flea allergy dermatitis in dogs and cats. Veterinary Dermatology, 11(2), 83-98. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3164.2000.00204.x">https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3164.2000.00204.x</a>
- Carney, H. C., Sadek, T. P., Curtis, T. M., Halls, V., Heath, S., Hutchison, P., Mundschenk, K., & Westropp, J. L. (2014). AAFP and ISFM Guidelines for diagnosing and solving house-soiling behavior in cats. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 16(7), 579-598. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X14539092
- Casey, R. A., & Bradshaw, J. W. S. (2008). Owner compliance and clinical outcome measures for domestic cats undergoing clinical behavior therapy. Journal of Veterinary Behavior: Clinical Applications and Research, 3(3), 114-124. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2008.02.001">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2008.02.001</a>
- Castillo, D., & Clarke, A. (2003). Trap/neuter/release methods ineffective in controlling domestic cat "colonies" on public lands. Natural Areas Journal, 23(3), 247-253.
- Cave, N. J., Bridges, J. P., & Thomas, D. G. (2012). Systemic effects of periodontal disease in cats. Veterinary Quarterly, 32(3-4), 131-144. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/01652176.2012.745957">https://doi.org/10.1080/01652176.2012.745957</a>
- Center for Pet Safety. (n.d.). Pet travel tips. https://www.centerforpetsafety.org/faqs/pet-travel-tips/
- Center for Pet Safety. (2015). 2015 Carrier Study Results. <a href="https://www.centerforpetsafety.org/test-results/">https://www.centerforpetsafety.org/test-results/</a> <a href="mailto:carrier-study-results/">carrier-study-results/</a>
- Chandler, M., Cunningham, S., Lund, E. M., Khanna, C., Naramore, R., Patel, A., & Day, M. J. (2017). Obesity and associated comorbidities in people and companion animals: A One Health perspective. Journal of Comparative Pathology, 156 (4), 296-309. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcpa.2017.03.006">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcpa.2017.03.006</a>
- Cisneros, A., Litwin, D., Niel, L., & Stellato, A. C. (2022). Unwanted scratching behavior in cats: Influence of management strategies and cat and owner characteristics. Animals, 12(19), Article 2551. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ani12192551">https://doi.org/10.3390/ani12192551</a>



- Clarke, D. E., & Cameron, A. (1998). Relationship between diet, dental calculus and periodontal disease in domestic and feral cats in Australia. Australian Veterinary Journal, 76(10), 690-693. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-0813.1998.tb12284.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-0813.1998.tb12284.x</a>
- Cline, J. (2012). Cattery management and nutrition of the queen and her offspring. In C. Lopate (Ed.), Management of pregnant and neonatal dogs, cats, and exotic pets (pp. 15–24). Wiley. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118997215.ch2">https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118997215.ch2</a>
- Companion Animal Parasite Council. (2007). Mites. https://capcvet.org/quidelines/notoedric-mite/
- Companion Animal Parasite Council. (2014). Toxoplasma gondii. <a href="https://capcvet.org/guidelines/toxoplasma-gondii/">https://capcvet.org/guidelines/toxoplasma-gondii/</a>
- Companion Animal Parasite Council. (2017). Fleas. https://capcvet.org/guidelines/fleas/
- Companion Animal Parasite Council. (2022). General guidelines for dogs and cats. <a href="https://capcvet.org/guidelines/general-guidelines/">https://capcvet.org/guidelines/general-guidelines/</a>
- $\label{lem:companionAnimalsNewZealand.} Companion Animals New Zealand. \\ \underline{ com/static/5d1bf13a3f8e880001289eeb/t/5f768e8a17377653bd1eebef/1601605338749/} \\ \underline{ companion+Animals+in+NZ+2020+\%\ 281\ \%\ 29.pdf}$
- Conroy, M., O'Neill, D., Boag, A., Church, D., & Brodbelt, D. (2019). Epidemiology of road traffic accidents in cats attending emergency-care practices in the UK. Journal of Small Animal Practice, 60(3), 146-152. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/jsap.12941">https://doi.org/10.1111/jsap.12941</a>
- Cortinovis, C., & Caloni, F. (2016). Household food items toxic to dogs and cats. Frontiers in Veterinary Science, 3(26), Article 26. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2016.00026
- Couture, M., Stellato, A. C., Moody, C. M., & Niel, L. (2022). Owner perspectives of cat handling techniques used in the veterinary clinic. Journal of Applied Animal Welfare Science, 27(1), 46-55. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/10888705.2022.2039144">https://doi.org/10.1080/10888705.2022.2039144</a>
- Crowell-Davis, S. L., Curtis, T. M., & Knowles, R. J. (2004). Social organization in the cat: A modern understanding. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 6(1), 19-28. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfms.2003.09.013">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfms.2003.09.013</a>
- Crowley, S. L., Cecchetti, M., & McDonald, R. A. (2019). Hunting behaviour in domestic cats: An exploratory study of risk and responsibility among cat owners. People and Nature, 1(1), 18-30. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/pan3.6">https://doi.org/10.1002/pan3.6</a>
- Cudney, S. E., Wayne, A., & Rozanski, E. A. (2021). Clothes dryer–induced heat stroke in three cats. Journal of Veterinary Emergency and Critical Care, 31(6), 800-805. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/vec.13131">https://doi.org/10.1111/vec.13131</a>
- Day, M. J., Horzinek, M. C., Schultz, R. D., & Squires, R. A. (2016). WSAVA Guidelines for the vaccination of dogs and cats. Journal of Small Animal Practice, 57(1), E1–E45. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/jsap.2\_12431">https://doi.org/10.1111/jsap.2\_12431</a>



- de Assis, L. S., & Mills, D. S. (2021). Introducing a controlled outdoor environment impacts positively in cat welfare and owner concerns: The use of a new feline welfare assessment tool. Frontiers in Veterinary Science, 7, Article 599284. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2020.599284
- Defauw, P. A. M., Van de Maele, I., Duchateau, L., Polis, I. E., Saunders, J. H., & Daminet, S. (2011). Risk factors and clinical presentation of cats with feline idiopathic cystitis. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 13(12), 967-975. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfms.2011.08.001
- Denenberg, S., & Dubé, M. B. (2018). Tools for managing feline problem behaviours psychoactive medications. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 20(11), 1034-1045. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X18806760">https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X18806760</a>
- DePorter, T. L., & Elzerman, A. L. (2019). Common feline problem behaviors: Destructive scratching. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 21(3), 235-243. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X19831205
- Dhaliwal, R., Boynton, E., Carrera-Justiz, S., Cruise, N., Gardner, M., Huntingford, J., Lobprise, H., & Rozanski, E. (2023). 2023 AAHA Senior care guidelines for dogs and cats. Journal of the American Animal Hospital Association, 59(1), 1-21. https://doi.org/10.5326/JAAHA-MS-7343
- Di Cerbo, A., Morales-Medina, J. C., Palmieri, B., Pezzuto, F., Cocco, R., Flores, G., & Iannitti, T. (2017). Functional foods in pet nutrition: Focus on dogs and cats. Research in Veterinary Science, 112, 161-166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rvsc.2017.03.020
- Dodd, K. T., & Gross, D. R. (1980). Ammonia inhalation toxicity in cats. Archives in Environmental Health, 35(1), 6-14.
- Domínguez-Oliva, A., Mota-Rojas, D., Semendric, I., & Whittaker, A. L. (2023). The impact of vegan diets on indicators of health in dogs and cats: A systematic review. Veterinary Sciences, 10(1), Article 52. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/vetsci10010052">https://doi.org/10.3390/vetsci10010052</a>
- Dorn, C. R., Taylor, D. O. N., Schneider, R., Hibbard, H. H., & Klauber, M. R. (1968). Survey of animal neoplasms in Alameda and Contra Costa Counties, California. II. Cancer morbidity in dogs and cats from Alameda County. Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 40(2), 307-318. <a href="https://academic.oup.com/jnci/article/40/2/307/929183">https://academic.oup.com/jnci/article/40/2/307/929183</a>
- Dorn, C. R., Taylor, D. O., & Schneider, R. (1971). Sunlight exposure and risk of developing cutaneous and oral squamous cell carcinomas in white cats. Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 46(5), 1073-1078.
- Drobatz, K. J., & Costello, M. F. (Eds.). (2010). Feline emergency and critical care medicine. Wiley-Blackwell.
- Dubey, J. P., Lindsay, D. S., & Lappin, M. R. (2009). Toxoplasmosis and other intestinal coccidial infections in cats and dogs. Veterinary Clinics of North America Small Animal Practice, 39(6), 1009-1034. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cvsm.2009.08.001
- Ellis, J. J., McGowan, R. T. S., & Martin, F. (2017a). Does previous use affect litter box appeal in multi-cat households? Behavioural Processes, 141(3), 284-290. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beproc.2017.02.008
- Ellis, J. J., Stryhn, H., & Cockram, M. S. (2021). Effects of the provision of a hiding box or shelf on the behaviour and faecal glucocorticoid metabolites of bold and shy cats housed in single cages. Applied Animal Behaviour Science, 236, Article 105221. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2021.105221



- Ellis, J. J., Stryhn, H., Spears, J., & Cockram, M. S. (2017b). Environmental enrichment choices of shelter cats. Behavioural Processes, 141, 291-296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beproc.2017.03.023
- Ellis, S. L. H. (2009). Environmental enrichment. Practical strategies for improving feline welfare. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 11(11), 901-912. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfms.2009.09.011">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfms.2009.09.011</a>
- Ellis, S. L. H., Rodan, I., Carney, H. C., Heath, S., Rochlitz, I., Shearburn, L. D., Sundahl, E., & Westropp, J. L. (2013). AAFP and ISFM Feline environmental needs guidelines. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 15(3), 219-230. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X13477537">https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X13477537</a>
- Ellis, S. L. H., & Wells, D. L. (2010). The influence of olfactory stimulation on the behaviour of cats housed in a rescue shelter. Applied Animal Behaviour Science, 123(1–2), 56–62. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2009.12.011">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2009.12.011</a>
- European Platform on Animal Welfare: Welfare in Pet Trade. (2020). Responsible cat breeding guidelines. <a href="https://food.ec.europa.eu/animals/animal-welfare/eu-platform-animal-welfare/platform-conclusions">https://food.ec.europa.eu/animals/animal-welfare/eu-platform-animal-welfare/platform-conclusions</a> en#pets
- Fadic, R., Larrain, C., & Zapata, P. (1991). Thermal effects on ventilation in cats: Participation of carotid body chemoreceptors. Respiration Physiology 86(1), 51-63. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/0034-5687(91)90039-l">https://doi.org/10.1016/0034-5687(91)90039-l</a>
- Fahey, G. C., Barry, K. A., & Swanson, K. S. (2008). Age-related changes in nutrient utilization by companion animals. Annual Review of Nutrition, 28, 425-445. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.nutr.28.061807.155325">https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.nutr.28.061807.155325</a>
- Fakhri, Y., Gasser, R. B., Rostami, A., Fan, C. K., Ghasemi, S. M., Javanian, M., Bayani, M., Armoon, B., & Moradi, B. (2018). Toxocara eggs in public places worldwide A systematic review and meta-analysis. Environmental Pollution, 242(Part B), 1467-1475. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.07.087">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.07.087</a>
- Farnworth, M. J., Adams, N. J., Seksel, K., Waran, N. K., Beausoleil, N. J., & Stafford, K. J. (2013). Veterinary attitudes towards pre-pubertal gonadectomy of cats: A comparison of samples from New Zealand, Australia and the United Kingdom. New Zealand Veterinary Journal, 61(4), 226-233. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/00480169.2012.738591">https://doi.org/10.1080/00480169.2012.738591</a>
- Finka, L. R., Ellis, S. L. H., & Stavisky, J. (2014). A critically appraised topic (CAT) to compare the effects of single and multi-cat housing on physiological and behavioural measures of stress in domestic cats in confined environments. BMC Veterinary Research, 10, Article 73. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/1746-6148-10-73">https://doi.org/10.1186/1746-6148-10-73</a>
- Finkler, H., Hatna, E., & Terkel, J. (2011). The impact of anthropogenic factors on the behavior, reproduction, management and welfare of urban, free-roaming cat populations. Anthrozoös, 24(1), 31-49. https://doi.org/10.2752/175303711X12923300467320
- Fitzgerald, K. T., Bronstein, A. C., & Flood, A. A. (2006). "Over-The-Counter" drug toxicities in companion animals. Clinical Techniques in Small Animal Practice, 21(4), 215-226. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1053/j.ctsap.2006.10.006">https://doi.org/10.1053/j.ctsap.2006.10.006</a>
- Foley, P., Foley, J. E., Levy, J. K., & Paik, T. (2005). Analysis of the impact of trap-neuter-return programs on populations of feral cats. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 227(11), 1775-1781. https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.2005.227.1775



- Foreman-Worsley, R., & Farnworth, M. J. (2019). A systematic review of social and environmental factors and their implications for indoor cat welfare. Applied Animal Behaviour Science, 220, Article 104841. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2019.104841
- Forrest, R., Awawdeh, L., Esam, F., Pearson, M., & Waran, N. (2021). The diets of companion cats in Aotearoa New Zealand: Identification of obesity risk factors. Animals, 11(10), Article 2881. https://doi. org/10.3390/ani11102881
- Fossati, P., & Ruffo, G. (2021). Purebred dogs and cats: A proposal for a better protection. Journal of Veterinary Behavior, 45, 44-50. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2021.05.009">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2021.05.009</a>
- Frayne, J., Edwards, M., Templeman, J. R., Croney, C. C., Macdonald-Murray, S., Flickinger, E., Verbrugghe, A., & Shoveller, A. K. (2022). The behavioural impact on cats during a transition from a clay-based litter to a plant-based litter. Animals, 12(8), Article 946. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani12080946
- Fries, R., Heaney, A. M., & Meurs, K. M. (2008). Prevalence of the myosin-binding protein C mutation in Maine Coon cats. Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine, 22(4), 893–896. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1939-1676.2008.0113.x
- Gaskell, R. M., & Wardley, R. C. (1977). Feline viral respiratory disease: A review with particular reference to its epizootiology and control. Journal of Small Animal Practice, 19(1-12), 1-16. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1748-5827.1978.tb05452.x
- Gates, M., Walker, J., Zito, S., & Dale, A. (2019). A survey of opinions towards dog and cat management policy issues in New Zealand. New Zealand Veterinary Journal, 67(6), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1080 /00480169.2019.1645627
- Gawor, J. P., Reiter, A. M., Jodkowska, K., Kurski, G., Wojtacki, M. P., & Kurek, A. (2006). Influence of diet on oral health in cats and dogs. Journal of Nutrition, 136 (7), 2021S-2023S. https://academic.oup. com/jn/article/136/7/2021S/4664805
- Gazzano, A., Bianchi, L., Campa, S., & Mariti, C. (2015). The prevention of undesirable behaviors in cats: Effectiveness of veterinary behaviorists' advice given to kitten owners. Journal of Veterinary Behavior, 10(6), 535-542. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2015.07.042
- Gerber, B., Boretti, F. S., Kley, S., Laluha, P., Müller, C., Sieber, N., Unterer, S., Wenger, M., Flückiger, M., Glaus, T., & Reusch, C. E. (2005). Evaluation of clinical signs and causes of lower urinary tract disease in European cats. Journal of Small Animal Practice, 46(12), 571-577. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1748-5827.2005.tb00288.x
- German, A. J., Holden, S. L., Moxham, G. L., Holmes, K. L., Hackett, R. M., & Rawlings, J. M. (2006). A simple reliable tool for owners to assess the body condition of the dog or cat. Journal of Nutrition, 136(Suppl. 7), 2031-2033. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/136.7.2031S
- Gilhofer, E. M., Windschnurer, I., Troxler, J., & Heizmann, V. (2019). Welfare of feral cats and potential influencing factors. Journal of Veterinary Behavior, 30, 114-123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jveb.2018.12.012
- Glassey, S. (2022). Animal disaster management. In A. Knight, C. Phillips, & P. Sparks (Eds.), Routledge handbook of animal welfare (pp. 336-350). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003182351-<u>30</u>



- Goericke-Pesch, S. (2010). Reproduction control in cats: New developments in non-surgical methods. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 12(7), 539-546. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfms.2010.05.005
- Goericke-Pesch, S., & Packeiser, E. M. (2022). Reproductive management in catteries: Optimising health and wellbeing through veterinarian-breeder collaboration. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 24(9), 881-904. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X221118760
- Goodwin, K., Rand, J., Morton, J., Uthappa, V., & Walduck, R. (2018). Email reminders increase the frequency that pet owners update their microchip information. Animals, 8(2), Article 20. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ani8020020">https://doi.org/10.3390/ani8020020</a>
- Gordon, J. K., Matthaei, C., & Van Heezik, Y. (2010). Belled collars reduce catch of domestic cats in New Zealand by half. Wildlife Research, 37(5), 372-378. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1071/WR09127">https://doi.org/10.1071/WR09127</a>
- Gourkow, N., & Fraser, D. (2006). The effect of housing and handling practices on the welfare, behaviour and selection of domestic cats (Felis sylvestris catus) by adopters in an animal shelter. Animal Welfare, 15(4), 371-377. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0962728600030700
- Graf, R., Grüntzig, K., Boo, G., Hässig, M., Axhausen, K. W., Fabrikant, S., Welle, M., Meier, D., Guscetti, F., Folkers, G., Otto, V., & Pospischil, A. (2016). Swiss Feline Cancer Registry 1965-2008: The influence of sex, breed and age on tumour types and tumour locations. Journal of Comparative Pathology, 154(2-3), 195-210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcpa.2016.01.008
- Grant, D. C. (2010). Effect of water source on intake and urine concentration in healthy cats. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 12(6), 431-434. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfms.2009.10.008">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfms.2009.10.008</a>
- Grave, T. W., & Boag, A. K. (2010). Feline toxicological emergencies. When to suspect and what to do. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 12(11), 849-860. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfms.2010.09.006">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfms.2010.09.006</a>
- Gray, C. M., Sellon, R. K., & Freeman, L. M. (2005). Nutritional adequacy of two vegan diets for cats. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 225(11), 1670-1675. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.2004.225.1670">https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.2004.225.1670</a>
- Grigg, E. K., Pick, L., & Nibblett, B. (2013). Litter box preference in domestic cats: Covered versus uncovered. JournalofFelineMedicineandSurgery,15(4),280-284. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X12465606">https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X12465606</a>
- Gross, K. L., Becvarova, I., & Debraekeleer, J. (2010). Feeding nursing and orphaned kittens from birth to weaning. In M. S. Hand, C. D. Thatcher, R. L., Remillard, P. Roudebush, & B. J. Novotny (Eds.), Small Animal Clinical Nutrition (5th ed.) (pp. 415-427). Mark Morris Institute.
- Gruen, M. E., Lascelles, B. D. X., Colleran, E., Gottlieb, A., Johnson, J., Lotsikas, P., Marcellin-Little, D., & Wright, B. (2022). 2022 AAHA Pain management guidelines for dogs and cats. Journal of the American Animal Hospital Association, 58(2), 55-76. https://doi.org/10.5326/JAAHA-MS-7292
- Gruen, M. E., Thomson, A. E., Clary, G. P., Hamilton, A. K., Hudson, L. C., Meeker, R. B., & Sherman, B. L. (2013). Conditioning laboratory cats to handling and transport. Lab Animal, 42(10), 385-389. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1038/laban.361">https://doi.org/10.1038/laban.361</a>
- Gundler, S., Tidholm, A., & Häggström, J. (2008). Prevalence of myocardial hypertrophy in a population of asymptomatic Swedish Maine coon cats. Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica, 50(1). <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/1751-0147-50-22">https://doi.org/10.1186/1751-0147-50-22</a>



- Gunn-Moore, D. A. (2003). Feline lower urinary tract disease. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 5(2), 133-138. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1098-612X(02)00129-8
- Gunther, I., Finkler, H., & Terkel, J. (2011). Demographic differences between urban feeding groups of neutered and sexually intact free-roaming cats following trap-neuter-return procedure. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 238(9), 1134-1140. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.238.9.1134">https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.238.9.1134</a>
- Gunther, I., Raz, T., Berke, O., & Klement, E. (2015). Nuisances and welfare of free-roaming cats in urban settings and their association with cat reproduction. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 119(3-4), 203-210. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prevetmed.2015.02.012">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prevetmed.2015.02.012</a>
- Gunther, I., Raz, T., & Klement, E. (2018). Association of neutering with health and welfare of urban free-roaming cat population in Israel, during 2012-2014. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 157, 26-33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prevetmed.2018.05.018
- Guy, N. C., Hopson, M., & Vanderstichel, R. (2014). Litterbox size preference in domestic cats (Felis catus). Journal of Veterinary Behavior: Clinical Applications and Research, 9(2), 78-82. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2013.11.001">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2013.11.001</a>
- Hadar, B. N., Lambrecht, K. J., Poljak, Z., Coe, J. B., Stone, E. A., Verbrugghe, A., & Bernardo, T. M. (2022). Technology-enhanced weight-loss program in multiple-cat households: A randomized controlled trial. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 24(8), 726-738. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X211044412">https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X211044412</a>
- Hall, C. M., Bryant, K. A., Fontaine, J. B., & Calver, M. C. (2016). Do collar-mounted predation deterrents restrict wandering in pet domestic cats? Applied Animal Behaviour Science, 176, 96-104. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2015.12.006">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2015.12.006</a>
- Hall, C. M., Fontaine, J. B., Bryant, K. A., & Calver, M. C. (2015). Assessing the effectiveness of the Birdsbesafe® anti-predation collar cover in reducing predation on wildlife by pet cats in Western Australia. Applied Animal Behaviour Science, 173, 40-51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2015.01.004
- Hall, E. J., Radford, A. D., & Carter, A. J. (2022). Surveillance of heat-related illness in small animals presenting to veterinary practices in the UK between 2013 and 2018. Open Veterinary Journal, 12(1), 5-16. https://doi.org/10.5455/OVJ.2022.v12.i1.2
- Hammerle, M., Horst, C., Levine, E., Overall, K., Radosta, L., Rafter-Ritchie, M., & Yin, S. (2015). 2015 AAHA canine and feline behaviour management guidelines. <a href="https://www.aaha.org/aaha-guidelines/behavior-management/behavior-management-home/">https://www.aaha.org/aaha-guidelines/behavior-management-home/</a>
- Hampe, J.F., & Misdorp, W. (1974). Tumours and dysplasias of the mammary gland. Bulletin World Health Organisation, 50(1-2), 111-133.
- Harrod, M., Keown, A. J., & Farnworth, M. J. (2016). Use and perception of collars for companion cats in New Zealand. New Zealand Veterinary Journal, 64(2), 121-124. https://doi.org/10.1080/00480169.2015.1110064
- Hart, B.L., & Cooper, L.C. (1984). Factors relating to urine spraying and fighting in prepubertally gonadectomized cats. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 184(10), 1255-8.



- Hart, L. A., Hart, B. L., Thigpen, A. P., Willits, N. H., Lyons, L. A., & Hundenski, S. (2018). Compatibility of cats with children in the family. Frontiers in Veterinary Science, 5, Article 278. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2018.00278">https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2018.00278</a>
- Hawes, S., Kerrigan, J., & Morris, K. (2018). Factors informing outcomes for older cats and dogs in animal shelters. Animals, 8(3), Article 36. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ani8030036">https://doi.org/10.3390/ani8030036</a>
- Hawes, S. M., Kerrigan, J. M., Hupe, T., & Morris, K. N. (2020). Factors informing the return of adopted dogs and cats to an animal shelter. Animals, 10(9), Article 1573. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ani10091573">https://doi.org/10.3390/ani10091573</a>
- Hayes, H. M., Milne, K. L., & Mandel, C. P. (1981). Epidemiological features of feline mammary carcinoma. Veterinary Record, 108(22), 476-479. https://doi.org/10.1136/vr.108.22.476
- Hayes, K. C. (1982). Nutritional problems in cats: Taurine deficiency and vitamin A excess. Canadian Veterinary Journal 23(1), 2-5.
- Haywood, C., Ripari, L., Puzzo, J., Foreman-Worsley, R., & Finka, L. R. (2021). Providing humans with practical, best practice handling guidelines during human-cat interactions increases cats' affiliative behaviour and reduces aggression and signs of conflict. Frontiers in Veterinary Science, 8, Article 714143. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2021.714143
- Heath, S. (2019). Common feline problem behaviours: Unacceptable indoor elimination. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 21(3), 199-208. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X19831202">https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X19831202</a>
- Heidenberger, E. (1997). Housing conditions and behavioural problems of indoor cats as assessed by their owners. Applied Animal Behaviour Science, 52(3-4), 345-364. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1591(96)01134-3">https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1591(96)01134-3</a>
- Henning, J., Nielsen, T., Fernandez, E., & Hazel, S. (2023). Cats just want to have fun: Associations between play and welfare in domestic cats. Animal Welfare, 32, e9. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1017/awf.2023.2">https://doi.org/10.1017/awf.2023.2</a>
- Herron, M. E., & Buffington, C. A. T. (2010). Environmental enrichment for indoor cats. Compend Contin Educ Vet, 32(12), E4. http://www.vetlearn.com/InPractice/ClientHandouts.aspx
- Hnilica, K. A., & Patterson, A. P. (Eds.). (2011). Parasitic Skin Disorders. In Small Animal Dermatology (4th ed.) (pp. 120-158). <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-1-4160-5663-8.00005-7">https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-1-4160-5663-8.00005-7</a>
- Holst, B.S. (2022). Feline breeding and pregnancy management: What is normal and when to intervene. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 24(3), 221-231. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X221079708
- Holst, B. S., Axnér, E., Öhlund, M., Möller, L., & Egenvall, A. (2017). Dystocia in the cat evaluated using an insurance database. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 19(1), 42-47. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X15600482">https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X15600482</a>
- Holst, B. S., & Frössling, J. (2009). The Swedish breeding cat: Population description, infectious diseases and reproductive performance evaluated by a questionnaire. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 11(10), 793-802. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfms.2009.01.008">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfms.2009.01.008</a>
- Horwitz, D. F. (1997). Behavioral and environmental factors associated with elimination behavior problems in cats: A retrospective study. Applied Animal Behavior Science, 52(1-2), 129-137. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1591(96)01073-8">https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1591(96)01073-8</a>



- Hosie, M. J., Addie, D., Belák, S., Boucraut-Baralon, C., Egberink, H., Frymus, T., Gruffydd-Jones, T., Hartmann, K., Lloret, A., Lutz, H., Marsilio, F., Pennisi, M. G., Radford, A. D., Thiry, E., Truyen, U., & Horzinek, M. C. (2009). Feline immunodeficiency ABCD guidelines on prevention and management. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 11(7), 575-584. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfms.2009.05.006">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfms.2009.05.006</a>
- Hosie, M. J., Addie, D. D., Boucraut-Baralon, C., Egberink, H., Frymus, T., Gruffydd-Jones, T., Hartmann, K., Horzinek, M. C., Lloret, A., Lutz, H., Marsilio, F., Pennisi, M. G., Radford, A. D., Thiry, E., Truyen, U., Möstl, K., & European Advisory Board on Cat Diseases. (2015). Matrix vaccination guidelines: 2015 ABCD recommendations for indoor/outdoor cats, rescue shelter cats and breeding catteries. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 17(7), 583-587. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X15590732">https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X15590732</a>
- Howe, L. M. (1997). Short-term results and complications of prepubertal gonadectomy in cats and dogs. Journal of American Veterinary Medical Association, 211(1), 57-62.
- Howe, L. M. (2015). Current perspectives on the optimal age to spay/castrate dogs and cats. Veterinary Medicine: Research and Reports, 6, 171-180. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2147/vmrr.s53264">https://doi.org/10.2147/vmrr.s53264</a>
- Huang, L., Coradini, M., Rand, J., Morton, J., Albrecht, K., Wasson, B., & Robertson, D. (2018). Search methods used to locate missing cats and locations where missing cats are found. Animals, 8(1), Article 5. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ani8010005">https://doi.org/10.3390/ani8010005</a>
- Hughes, K. L., & Slater, M. R. (2002). Implementation of a feral cat management program on a university campus. Journal of Applied Animal Welfare Science, 5(1), 15-28. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1207/515327604JAWS0501">https://doi.org/10.1207/515327604JAWS0501</a> 2
- International Air Transport Association. (2023). Live Animals Regulations. <a href="https://www.iata.org/en/programs/cargo/live-animals/pets/">https://www.iata.org/en/programs/cargo/live-animals/pets/</a>
- International Cat Care (2019). Letting your cat/kitten outside for the first time. <a href="https://icatcare.org/advice/letting-your-cat-kitten-outside-for-the-first-time/">https://icatcare.org/advice/letting-your-cat-kitten-outside-for-the-first-time/</a>
- Jergens, A. E. (2012). Feline Idiopathic Inflammatory Bowel Disease: What we know and what remains to be unraveled. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 14(7), 445-458. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X12451548">https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X12451548</a>
- Johnson, A. K. (2022). Normal feline reproduction: The queen. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery 24(3), 204-211. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X221079706
- Johnson, S. I., McMichael, M., & White, G. (2006). Heatstroke in small animal medicine: A clinical practice review. Journal of Veterinary Emergency and Critical Care 16(2), 112-119. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1476-4431.2006.00191.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1476-4431.2006.00191.x</a>
- Jones, A. L., & Downs, C. T. (2011). Managing feral cats on a university's campuses: How many are there and is sterilization having an effect? Journal of Applied Animal Welfare Science, 14(4), 304-320. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888705.2011.600186
- Karsh, E. B. (1984). Factors influencing the socialization of cats to people. In R. K. Anderson, B. L. Hart, L. A. Hart (Eds.), The pet connection: Its influence on our health and quality of life (pp. 207-215). University of Pennsylvania Press.



- Karsh, E. B., & Turner, D. C. (1988). The human-cat relationship. In D. C. Turner, & P. Bateson (Eds.), The domestic cat: The biology of its behaviour (1st ed.) (pp. 159-177). Cambridge University Press.
- Karsten, C. (2021). Sanitation. In L. Miller, S. Janeczko & K. Hurley (Eds.), Infectious disease management in animal shelters (pp. 166-190). John Wiley & Sons.
- Kessler, M. R., & Turner, D. C. (1999). Effects of density and cage size on stress in domestic cats (Felis Silvestris Catus) housed in animal shelters and boarding catteries. Animal Welfare, 8(3), 259-267. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0962728600021746
- Kilgour, R. J., Magle, S. B., Slater, M., Christian, A., Weiss, E., & DiTullio, M. (2017). Estimating free-roaming cat populations and the effects of one year Trap-Neuter-Return management effort in a highly urban area. Urban Ecosystems, 20(1), 207-216. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11252-016-0583-8
- Kim, Y., Kim, H., Pfeiffer, D., & Brodbelt, D. (2018). Epidemiological study of feline idiopathic cystitis in Seoul, South Korea. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 20(10), 913-921. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X17734067">https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X17734067</a>
- King, K., Negus, K., & Mbbs, J. C. V. (1981). Heat stress in motor vehicles: A problem in infancy. Pediatrics, 68(4), 579.
- Kipperman, B. S., & German, A. J. (2018). The responsibility of veterinarians to address companion animal obesity. Animals, 8(9), Article 143. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ani8080143">https://doi.org/10.3390/ani8080143</a>
- Knight, T. E., & Kumar, M. S. A. (2003). Lead toxicosis in cats A review. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 5(5), 249-255. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/S1098-612X(03)00047-0">https://doi.org/10.1016/S1098-612X(03)00047-0</a>
- Kogan, L., Kolus, C., & Schoenfeld-Tacher, R. (2017). Assessment of clicker training for shelter cats. Animals, 7(10), Article 73. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ani7100073">https://doi.org/10.3390/ani7100073</a>
- Kogan, L. R., & Grigg, E. K. (2021). Laser light pointers for use in companion cat play: Association with guardian-reported abnormal repetitive behaviors. Animals, 11(8), Article 2178. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11082178">https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11082178</a>
- Koret Shelter Medicine Program. (2018). Sanitation in animal shelters. <a href="https://www.sheltermedicine.com/library/resources/?r=sanitation-in-animal-shelters">https://www.sheltermedicine.com/library/resources/?r=sanitation-in-animal-shelters</a>
- Lambert, K. (2014). Summarizing reasons for surrender and stakeholder perceptions within the published literature on companion-animal relinquishment [Master's thesis, University of Guelph]. <a href="http://hdl.html.net/10214/7833">http://hdl.html.net/10214/7833</a>
- Lancaster, E., Rand, J., Collecott, S., & Paterson, M. (2015). Problems associated with the microchip data of stray dogs and cats entering RSPCA Queensland shelters. Animals, 5(2), 332-348. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ani5020332">https://doi.org/10.3390/ani5020332</a>
- Lappin, M. R., Elston, T., Evans, L., Glaser, C., Jarboe, L., Karczmar, P., Lund, C., & Ray, M. (2019). 2019 AAFP Feline Zoonoses Guidelines. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 21(11), 1008-1021. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X19880436">https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X19880436</a>
- Lana, S. E., Ogilvie, G. K., Withrow, S. J., Straw, R. C., & Rogers, K. S. (1997). Feline cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma of the nasal planum and the pinnae: 61 cases. Journal of the American Animal Hospital Association, 33(4), 329-332. https://doi.org/10.5326/15473317-33-4-329



- Lawler, D. F. (2008). Neonatal and pediatric care of the puppy and kitten. Theriogenology, 70(3), 384-392. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.theriogenology.2008.04.019
- Lawler, D. F., & Bebiak, D. M. (1986). Nutrition and management of reproduction in the cat. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Small Animal Practice, 16(3), 495-519. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/s0195-5616(86)50056-5">https://doi.org/10.1016/s0195-5616(86)50056-5</a>
- Lawler, D.F., & Monti, K.L. (1984). Morbidity and mortality in neonatal kittens. American Journal of Veterinary Research, 45(7), 1455-1459.
- Lawson, G. T., Langford, F. M., & Harvey, A. M. (2020). The environmental needs of many Australian pet cats are not being met. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 22(10), 898-906. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X19890189">https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X19890189</a>
- Legrand-Defretin, V. (1994). Differences between cats and dogs: A nutritional view. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society, 53(1), 15-24. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1079/pns19940004">https://doi.org/10.1079/pns19940004</a>
- Levine, E., Perry, P., Scarlett, J., & Houpt, K. A. (2005). Intercat aggression in households following the introduction of a new cat. Applied Animal Behaviour Science, 90(3-4), 325-336. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2004.07.006">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2004.07.006</a>
- Levy, J. K., Gale, D. W., & Gale, L. A. (2003). Evaluation of the effect of a long-term trap-neuter-return and adoption program on a free-roaming cat population. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 222(1), 42-46. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.2003.222.42">https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.2003.222.42</a>
- Levy, J. K., Isaza, N. M., & Scott, K. C. (2014). Effect of high-impact targeted trap-neuter-return and adoption of community cats on cat intake to a shelter. Veterinary Journal, 201(3), 269-274. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tvjl.2014.05.001">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tvjl.2014.05.001</a>
- Lindell A., E. M., Erb, H. N., & Houpt, K. A. (1997). Intercat aggression: A retrospective study examining types of aggression, sexes of fighting pairs, and effectiveness of treatment. Applied Animal Behaviour Science, 55 (1-2),153-162. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1591(97)00032-4
- Litster, A. (2021). Feline infectious respiratory disease. In L. Miller, S. Janeczko & K. Hurley (Eds.), Infectious disease management in animal shelters (pp. 289-320). John Wiley & Sons.
- Little, S., Levy, J., Hartmann, K., Hofmann-Lehmann, R., Hosie, M., Olah, G., & St. Denis, K. (2020). 2020 AAFP feline retrovirus testing and management guidelines. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 22(1), 5-30. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X19895940
- Lizarraga, I., & Parton, K. (2021). A survey of animal poisonings in New Zealand veterinary practices: Perceptions of incidence and frequency of poisoning cases. New Zealand Veterinary Journal, 69(6), 349-354. https://doi.org/10.1080/00480169.2021.1936684
- Lockhart, J., Wilson, K., & Lanman, C. (2013). The effects of operant training on blood collection for domestic cats. Applied Animal Behaviour Science, 143(2-4), 128-134. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2012.10.011">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2012.10.011</a>
- Lord, L. K., Wittum, T. E., Ferketich, A. K., Funk, J. A., & Rajala-Schultz, P. J. (2007). Search and identification methods that owners use to find a lost cat. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 230(2), 217-220. https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.230.2.217



- Lord, L. K., Griffin, B., Slater, M. R., & Levy, J. K. (2010). Evaluation of collars and microchips for visual and permanent identification of pet cats. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 237(4), 387-394. https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.237.4.387
- Lowe, S.E., & Bradshaw, J.W.S. (2002). Responses of pet cats to being held by an unfamiliar person, from weaning to three years of age. Anthrozoös, 15(1), 69-79. https://doi.org/10.2752/089279302786992702
- Lowell, K. J., Delgado, M. M., Mederos, S. L., & Bain, M. J. (2020). The effect of premature maternal separation on distress vocalizations and activity in kittens (Felis catus) during a brief nest separation. Applied Animal Behaviour Science, 232, Article 105130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2020.105130
- Loyd, K. A. T., Hernandez, S. M., Abernathy, K. J., Shock, B. C., & Marshall, G. J. (2013). Risk behaviours exhibited by free-roaming cats in a suburban US town. Veterinary Record, 173(12), 295. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1136/vr.101222">https://doi.org/10.1136/vr.101222</a>
- Lund, E. M., Armstrong, P. J., Kirk, C. A., & Klausner, J. S. (2005). Prevalence and risk factors for obesity in adult cats from private US veterinary practices. International Journal of Applied Research in Veterinary Medicine, 3(2), 4-6. <a href="http://jarvm.com/articles/Vol3Iss2/LUND.pdf">http://jarvm.com/articles/Vol3Iss2/LUND.pdf</a>
- Lyons, L. A. (2012). Genetic testing in domestic cats. Molecular and Cellular Probes, 26(6), 224-230. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcp.2012.04.004">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcp.2012.04.004</a>
- Lyons, L. A. (2015). DNA mutations of the cat: The good, the bad and the ugly. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 17(3), 203-219. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X15571878">https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X15571878</a>
- Marston, L. C., & Bennett, P. C. (2009). Admissions of cats to animal welfare shelters in Melbourne, Australia. Journal of Applied Animal Welfare Science, 12(3), 189-213. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/10888700902955948">https://doi.org/10.1080/10888700902955948</a>
- Martin, P. (1986). An experimental study of weaning in the domestic cat, Behaviour, 99(3-4), 221-249. https://doi.org/10.1163/156853986X00568
- Martínez-Byer, S., Hudson, R., Bánszegi, O., & Szenczi, P. (2023). Effects of early social separation on the behaviour of kittens of the domestic cat. Applied Animal Behaviour Science, 259, Article 105849. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2023.105849">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2023.105849</a>
- Mata, F. (2015). The choice of diet affects the oral health of the domestic cat. Animals, 5(1), 101-109. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani5010101
- McCarthy, R. J., Levine, S. H., & Reed, J. M. (2013). Estimation of effectiveness of three methods of feral cat population control by use of a simulation model. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 243(4), 502-511. https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.243.4.502
- McDonald, S. E., Sweeney, J., Niestat, L., & Doherty, C. (2022). Grooming-related concerns among companion animals: Preliminary data on an overlooked topic and considerations for animals' access to health-related services. Frontiers in Veterinary Science, 9, Article 827348. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2022.827348">https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2022.827348</a>
- McEwen, B. J., & Gerdin, J. (2016). Veterinary forensic pathology: Drowning and bodies recovered from water. Veterinary Pathology, 53(5), 1049-1056. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0300985815625757">https://doi.org/10.1177/0300985815625757</a>



- McFadden, T., & Manfra Marretta, S. (2013). Consequences of untreated periodontal disease in dogs and cats. Journal of Veterinary Dentistry, 30(4), 266-2075. https://doi.org/10.1177/089875641303000413
- McLaren, C., Null. J., & Quinn, J. (2005). Heat stress from enclosed vehicles: Moderate ambient temperatures cause significant temperature rise in enclosed vehicles. Pediatrics, 116(1), e109-e112. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2004-2368">https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2004-2368</a>
- Mellor, D. J. (2015). Enhancing animal welfare by creating opportunities for positive affective engagement. New Zealand Veterinary Journal, 63(1), 3-8. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/00480169.2014.926799">https://doi.org/10.1080/00480169.2014.926799</a>
- Mellor, D. J. (2017). Operational details of the Five Domains Model and its key applications to the assessment and management of animal welfare. Animals, 7(8), Article 60. <a href="https://www.mdpi.com/2076-2615/7/8/60">https://www.mdpi.com/2076-2615/7/8/60</a>
- Mellor, D. J., Beausoleil, N. J., Littlewood, K. E., McLean, A. N., McGreevy, P. D., Jones, B., & Wilkins, C. (2020). The 2020 Five Domains Model: Including human-animal interactions in assessments of animal welfare. Animals, 10(10), 1-24. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani10101870
- Mellor, D. J., & Reid, C. S. W. (1994). Concepts of animal well-being and predicting the impact of procedures on experimental animals. Improving the Well-Being of Animals in the Research Environment, 3–18. https://www.wellbeingintlstudiesrepository.org/exprawel/7/
- Merola, I., & Mills, D. S. (2016). Behavioural signs of pain in cats: An expert consensus. PLoS ONE, 11(2), Article e0150040. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0150040">https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0150040</a>
- Michel, K. E. (2001). Management of anorexia in the cat. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 3(1), 3-8. https://doi.org/10.1053/jfms.2001.0108
- Michel, K. E. (2006). Unconventional diets for dogs and cats. Veterinary Clinics Small Animal Practice, 36(6), 1269-1281. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cvsm.2006.08.003">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cvsm.2006.08.003</a>
- Michel, K., & Scherk, M. (2012). From problem to success: Feline weight loss programs that work. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 14(5), 327-336. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X12444999
- Mikkola, S., Salonen, M., Hakanen, E., & Lohi, H. (2022). Fearfulness associates with problematic behaviors and poor socialization in cats. IScience, 25, Article 105265. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2022.105265">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2022.105265</a>
- Miller, P. S., Boone, J. D., Briggs, J. R., Lawler, D. F., Levy, J. K., Nutter, F. B., Slater, M., & Zawistowski, S. (2014). Simulating free-roaming cat population management options in open demographic environments. PLoS ONE, 9(11), Article e0150040. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0113553
- Ministry of Civil Defence and Emergency Management. (2015). The guide to the National Civil Defence Emergency Management Plan. <a href="https://www.civildefence.govt.nz/cdem-sector/plans-and-strategies/national-civil-defence-emergency-management-plan-and-guide/">https://www.civildefence.govt.nz/cdem-sector/plans-and-strategies/national-civil-defence-emergency-management-plan-and-guide/</a>
- Ministry for Primary Industries. (2013). Animal welfare matters: New Zealand Animal Welfare Strategy. <a href="https://www.mpi.govt.nz/animals/animal-welfare/animal-welfare-overview/">https://www.mpi.govt.nz/animals/animal-welfare/animal-welfare-overview/</a>
- Ministry for Primary Industries. (2023). All animal welfare codes. <a href="https://www.mpi.govt.nz/animals/animal-welfare-codes/">https://www.mpi.govt.nz/animals/animal-welfare-codes/</a> welfare/codes/all-animal-welfare-codes/



- Monteiro, B. P., Lascelles, B. D. X., Murrell, J., Robertson, S., Steagall, P. V. M., & Wright, B. (2022). 2022 WSAVA Guidelines for the recognition, assessment and treatment of pain. Journal of Small Animal Practice, 64, 175-310. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsap.13566
- Moody, C. M., Mason, G. J., Dewey, C. E., Landsberg, G. M., & Niel, L. (2019). Testing two behavioural paradigms for measuring post-handling cat aversion behaviour. Applied Animal Behaviour Science, 210, 73-80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2018.10.011
- Moody, C. M., Mason, G. J., Dewey, C. E., & Niel, L. (2020). Getting a grip: Cats respond negatively to scruffing and clips. Veterinary Record, 186(12), 385. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1136/vr.105261">https://doi.org/10.1136/vr.105261</a>
- Moody, C. M., Picketts, V. A., Mason, G. J., Dewey, C. E., & Niel, L. (2018). Can you handle it? Validating negative responses to restraint in cats. Applied Animal Behaviour Science, 204, 94-100. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2018.04.012">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2018.04.012</a>
- Mueller, R. S. (2020). Feline atopic syndrome. In C. Noli & S. Colomobo (Eds.), Feline dermatology (pp.465-474). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29836-4
- Murphy, S. (2013). Cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma in the cat: Current understanding and treatment approaches. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 15(5), 401-407. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X13483238">https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X13483238</a>
- National Animal Welfare Advisory Committee. (17 February 2016). NAWAC Guideline 01: Approach to consideration of draft codes of welfare. <a href="https://www.mpi.govt.nz/animals/animal-welfare/codes/animal-welfare-publications-quidelines-reports/">https://www.mpi.govt.nz/animals/animal-welfare/codes/animal-welfare-publications-quidelines-reports/</a>
- National Animal Welfare Advisory Committee. (6 June 2019). NAWAC Guideline: Assessing the welfare performance of restraining and kill traps. <a href="https://www.nawac.org.nz/guidelines/">https://www.nawac.org.nz/guidelines/</a>
- National Cat Management Strategy Group. (2020). National Cat Management Strategy Group report. https://www.companionanimals.nz/publications
- National Research Council. (2008). Acute exposure guideline levels for selected airborne chemicals (Vol. 6). National Academy Press. <a href="https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK207879/pdf/Bookshelf\_NBK207879.pdf">https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK207879/pdf/Bookshelf\_NBK207879.pdf</a>
- Natoli, E., Maragliano, L., Cariola, G., Faini, A., Bonanni, R., Cafazzo, S., & Fantini, C. (2006). Management of feral domestic cats in the urban environment of Rome (Italy). Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 77(3-4), 180-185. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prevetmed.2006.06.005">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prevetmed.2006.06.005</a>
- Neilson, J. (2004). Thinking outside the box: Feline elimination. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 6(1), 5-11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfms.2003.09.008
- Neilson, J. C. (2011). Litter preference in cats: Scented vs. unscented. ACVB/AVSAB Veterinary Behavior Symposium. St Louis, MO, USA. <a href="https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/document?repid=rep1&type=pdf&doi=ace695b7bac6a5ab3ea3dc5cf8d1f19f04318c72">https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/document?repid=rep1&type=pdf&doi=ace695b7bac6a5ab3ea3dc5cf8d1f19f04318c72</a>
- Nestle Purina Pet Care Center. (n.d). The Purina body condition system. <a href="https://www.purinainstitute.com/centresquare/nutritional-and-clinical-assessment/purina-body-condition-system">https://www.purinainstitute.com/centresquare/nutritional-and-clinical-assessment/purina-body-condition-system</a>



- New, J. C., Salman, M. D., King, M., Scarlett, J. M., Kass, P. H., & Hutchison, J. M. (2000). Characteristics of shelter-relinquished animals and their owners compared with animals and their owners in U.S. pet-owning households. Journal of Applied Animal Welfare Science, 3(3), 179-201. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327604jaws0303\_1">https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327604jaws0303\_1</a>
- New Zealand Veterinary Association. (2018). Responsible companion cat ownership. <a href="https://nzva.org.nz/resource/companion-animal/cat-ownership/">https://nzva.org.nz/resource/companion-animal/cat-ownership/</a>
- Newbury, S., Blinn, M. K., Bushby, P. A., Barker Cox, C., Dinnage, J. D., Griffin, B., Hurley, K. F., Isaza, N., Jones, W., Miller, L., Jeanette O'Quin, Gary J. Patronek, Martha Smith-Blackmore, M. S., O'Quin, J., Newbury, S., Blinn, M. K., Bushby, P. A., Barker Cox, C., Dinnage, J. D., Griffin, B., Hurley, K. F., ... Spindel, M. (2010). Guidelines for standards of care in animal shelters. The Association of Shelter Veterinarians, December, 1-67. <a href="https://oacu.oir.nih.gov/system/files/media/file/2021-02/shelterguide.pdf">https://oacu.oir.nih.gov/system/files/media/file/2021-02/shelterguide.pdf</a>
- Niemiec, B., Gawor, J., Nemec, A., Clarke, D., McLeod, K., Tutt, C., Gioso, M., Steagall, P. V., Chandler, M., Morgenegg, G., & Jouppi, R. (2020). World Small Animal Veterinary Association global dental guidelines. Journal of Small Animal Practice, 61(7), E36-E161. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsap.13132
- Nuti, V., Cantile, C., Gazzano, A., Sighieri, C., & Mariti, C. (2016). Pinch-induced behavioural inhibition (clipthesia) as a restraint method for cats during veterinary examinations: Preliminary results on cat susceptibility and welfare. Animal Welfare, 25(1), 115-123. <a href="https://doi.org/10.7120/09627286.25.1.115">https://doi.org/10.7120/09627286.25.1.115</a>
- Nutter, F. B., Levine, J. F., & Stoskopf, M. K. (2004). Reproductive capacity of free-roaming domestic cats and kitten survival rate. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 225(9), 1399-1402. https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.2004.225.1399
- O'Connor, R., Coe, J. B., Niel, L., & Jones-Bitton, A. (2016). Effect of adopters' lifestyles and animal-care knowledge on their expectations prior to companion-animal guardianship. Journal of Applied Animal Welfare Science, 19(2), 157-170. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888705.2015.1125295
- Öhlund, M., Palmgren, M., & Holst, B. S. (2018). Overweight in adult cats: A cross-sectional study. Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica, 60(1), Article 5. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s13028-018-0359-7">https://doi.org/10.1186/s13028-018-0359-7</a>
- Oliveira, I. de A., Viana-Junior, A. B., & de Azevedo, C. S. (2023). Indoor and outdoor management for cats: inferences about the welfare and cat-caretaker relationship. Journal of Veterinary Behavior, 60, 70-78. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2022.12.010">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2022.12.010</a>
- Orr, B., & Jones, B. (2019). A survey of veterinarian attitudes toward prepubertal desexing of dogs and cats in the Australian Capital Territory. Frontiers in Veterinary Science, 6, Article 272. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2019.00272">https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2019.00272</a>
- Overall, K. L., Rodan, I., Beaver, B. V., Carney, H., Crowell-Davis, S., Hird, N., Kudrak, S., & Wexler-Mitchell, E. (2005). Feline behavior guidelines from the American Association of Feline Practitioners. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 227(1), 70-84. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.2005.227.70">https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.2005.227.70</a>
- Overgaauw, P. A. M. (1997). Aspects of Toxocara epidemiology: Toxocarosis in dogs and cats. In Critical Reviews in Microbiology (Vol. 23, Issue 3, pp. 233-251). Informa Healthcare. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3109/10408419709115138">https://doi.org/10.3109/10408419709115138</a>



- Overley, B., Shofer, F. S., Goldschmidt, M. H., Sherer, D., & Sorenmo, K. U. (2005). Association between ovarihysterectomy and feline mammary carcinoma. Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine, 19(4), 560-563. https://doi.org/10.1892/0891-6640(2005)19[560:aboafm]2.0.co;2
- Pachel, C. L. (2014). Intercat aggression: Restoring harmony in the home: A guide for practitioners. Veterinary Clinics of North America Small Animal Practice, 44(3), 565-579. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cvsm.2014.01.007">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cvsm.2014.01.007</a>
- Pedrinelli, V., Gomes, M. D. O. S., & Carciofi, A. C. (2017). Analysis of recipes of home-prepared diets for dogs and cats published in Portuguese. Journal of Nutritional Science, 6, Article e33. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1017/jns.2017.31">https://doi.org/10.1017/jns.2017.31</a>
- Pedrinelli, V., Zafalon, R. V. A., Rodrigues, R. B. A., Perini, M. P., Conti, R. M. C., Vendramini, T. H. A., de Carvalho Balieiro, J. C., & Brunetto, M. A. (2019). Concentrations of macronutrients, minerals and heavy metals in home-prepared diets for adult dogs and cats. Scientific Reports, 9, Article 13058. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-49087-z">https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-49087-z</a>
- Perez-Camargo, G. (2010, March 26). Feline decline in key physiological reserves- implications for mortality. Purina Companion Animal Nutrition Summit: Focus on Gerontology. Clearwater Beach, Florida, USA.
- Pezzi, M., Bonacci, T., Leis, M., Mamolini, E., Marchetti, M. G., Krčmar, S., Chicca, M., Del Zingaro, C. N. F., Faucheux, M. J., & Scapoli, C. (2019). Myiasis in domestic cats: A global review. Parasites and Vectors, 12(1), Article 372. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13071-019-3618-1
- Piccione, G., Marafioti, S., Giannetto, C., Panzera, M., & Fazio, F. (2013). Daily rhythm of total activity pattern in domestic cats (Felis silvestris catus) maintained in two different housing conditions. Journal of Veterinary Behavior: Clinical Applications and Research, 8(4), 189-194. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2012.09.004">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2012.09.004</a>
- Pistorius, A. M. A., & Blokker, I. (2021). Statistical analysis in support of maintaining a healthy traditional Siamese cat population. Genetics Selection Evolution, 53(1), Article 6. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s12711-020-00596-w">https://doi.org/10.1186/s12711-020-00596-w</a>
- Plitman, L., Černá, P., Farnworth, M. J., Packer, R. M. A., & Gunn-Moore, D. A. (2019). Motivation of owners to purchase pedigree cats, with specific focus on the acquisition of brachycephalic cats. Animals, 9(7), Article 394. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9070394
- Porters, N., de Rooster, H., & Moons, C. P. (2015) Prepubertal gonadectomy in cats: Different injectable anaesthetic combinations and comparison with gonadectomy at traditional age. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery 17(6), 458-467. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X14546919
- Potter, K., Hancock, D.H., & Gallina, A.M. (1991). Clinical and pathologic features of endometrial hyperplasia, pyometra, and endometritis in cats: 79 cases (1980-1985). Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 198, 1427-1431.
- Povey, R. C., & Johnson, R. H. (1970). Observations on the epidemiology and control of viral respiratory disease in cats. Journal of Small Animal Practice, 11(7), 85-494. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-5827.1970.tb05599.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-5827.1970.tb05599.x</a>



- Pozza, M. E., Stella, J. L., Chappuis-Gagnon, A. C., Wagner, S. O., & Buffington, C. A. T. (2008). Pinch-induced behavioral inhibition ('clipnosis') in domestic cats. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 10(1), 82-87. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfms.2007.10.008">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfms.2007.10.008</a>
- Pratsch, L., Mohr, N., Palme, R., Rost, J., Troxler, J., & Arhant, C. (2018). Carrier training cats reduces stress on transport to a veterinary practice. Applied Animal Behaviour Science, 206, 64-74. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2018.05.025">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2018.05.025</a>
- Pryor, P. A., Hart, B. L., Bain, M. J., & Cliff, K. D. (2001). Causes of urine marking in cats and effects of environmental management on frequency of marking. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 219(12), 1709-1713. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.2001.219.1709">https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.2001.219.1709</a>
- Quimby, J., Gowland, S., Carney, H. C., DePorter, T., Plummer, P., & Westropp, J. (2021). 2021 AAHA/AAFP Feline life stage guidelines. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 23(3), 211-233. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X21993657">https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X21993657</a>
- Ramos, D. (2019). Common feline problem behaviors: Aggression in multi-cat households. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 21(3), 221-233. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X19831204">https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X19831204</a>
- Ramos, D., Reche-Junior, A., Fragoso, P. L., Palme, R., Yanasse, N. K., Gouvêa, V. R., Beck, A., & Mills, D. S. (2013). Are cats (Felis catus) from multi-cat households more stressed? Evidence from assessment of fecal glucocorticoid metabolite analysis. Physiology and Behavior, 122, 72-75. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2013.08.028">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2013.08.028</a>
- Ray, M., Carney, H. C., Boynton, B., Quimby, J., Robertson, S., St Denis, K., Tuzio, H., & Wright, B. (2021). 2021 AAFP feline senior care guidelines. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 23(7), 613–638. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X211021538">https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X211021538</a>
- Rehnberg, L. K., Robert, K. A., Watson, S. J., & Peters, R. A. (2015). The effects of social interaction and environmental enrichment on the space use, behaviour and stress of owned housecats facing a novel environment. Applied Animal Behaviour Science, 169, 51-61. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2015.06.002">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2015.06.002</a>
- Riemer, S., Heritier, C., Windschnurer, I., Pratsch, L., Arhant, C., & Affenzeller, N. (2021). A review on mitigating fear and aggression in dogs and cats in a veterinary setting. Animals, 11(1), Article 158. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11010158">https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11010158</a>
- Rioja-Lang, F., Bacon, H., Connor, M., & Dwyer, C. M. (2019). Determining priority welfare issues for cats in the United Kingdom using expert consensus. Veterinary Record Open, 6(1), 1-10. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1136/vetreco-2019-000365">https://doi.org/10.1136/vetreco-2019-000365</a>
- Roberts, K. B., & Roberts, E. C. (1976). The automobile and heat stress. Pediatrics, 58(1), 101-104. <a href="http://publications.aap.org/pediatrics/article-pdf/58/1/101/938255/101.pdf">http://publications.aap.org/pediatrics/article-pdf/58/1/101/938255/101.pdf</a>
- Rochlitz, I. (2003a). Study of factors that may predispose domestic cats to road traffic accidents: Part 1. Veterinary Record, 153(18), 549-553. https://doi.org/10.1136/vr.153.18.549
- Rochlitz, I. (2003b). Study of factors that may predispose domestic cats to road traffic accidents: Part 2. Veterinary Record, 153(19), 585-588. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1136/vr.153.19.585">https://doi.org/10.1136/vr.153.19.585</a>



- Rochlitz, I. (2004a). Clinical study of cats injured and killed in road traffic accidents in Cambridgeshire. Journal of Small Animal Practice, 45(8), 390-394. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-5827.2004.tb00253.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-5827.2004.tb00253.x</a>
- Rochlitz, I. (2004b). The effects of road traffic accidents on domestic cats and their owners. Animal Welfare, 13(1), 51-55. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1017/S096272860002666X">https://doi.org/10.1017/S096272860002666X</a>
- Rochlitz, I. (2005). A review of the housing requirements of domestic cats (Felis silvestris catus) kept in the home. Applied Animal Behaviour Science, 93(1-2), 97-109. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2005.01.002">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2005.01.002</a>
- Rodan, I. (2010). Understanding feline behavior and application for appropriate handling and management. Topics in Companion Animal Medicine, 25(4), 178-188. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1053/j.tcam.2010.09.001">https://doi.org/10.1053/j.tcam.2010.09.001</a>
- Rodan, I., Dowgray, N., Carney, H. C., Carozza, E., Ellis, S. L. H., Heath, S., Niel, L., St Denis, K., & Taylor, S. (2022). 2022 AAFP/ISFM Cat friendly veterinary interaction guidelines: Approach and handling techniques. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 24(11), 1093-1132. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X221128760">https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X221128760</a>
- Rodan, I., & Sparkes, A. H. (2012). Preventive health care for cats. In S. Little (Ed.), The cat: Clinical medicine and management (pp. 151-180). Elsevier. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-1-4377-0660-4.00008-9">https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-1-4377-0660-4.00008-9</a>
- Rodan, I., Sundahl, E., Carney, H., Gagnon, A. C., Heath, S., Landsberg, G., Seksel, K., & Yin, S. (2011). AAFP and ISFM Feline-friendly handling guidelines. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 13(5), 364-375. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfms.2011.03.012
- Root Kustritz, M. V. (1999). Early spay-neuter in the dog and cat. Veterinary Clinics of North America Small Animal Practice, 29(4), 935-943. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/S0195-5616(99)50082-X">https://doi.org/10.1016/S0195-5616(99)50082-X</a>
- Root Kustritz, M. V. (2005). Reproductive behavior of small animals. Theriogenology, 64(3), 734-746. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.theriogenology.2005.05.022
- Rust, M. K. (2017). The biology and ecology of cat fleas and advancements in their pest management: A review. Insects, 8(4), Article 118. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/insects8040118">https://doi.org/10.3390/insects8040118</a>
- Salt, C., German, A. J., Henzel, K. S., & Butterwick, R. F. (2022). Growth standard charts for monitoring bodyweight in intact domestic shorthair kittens from the USA. PLoS ONE, 17(11), Article e0277531. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0277531">https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0277531</a>
- Samaha, G., Wade, C. M., Beatty, J., Lyons, L. A., Fleeman, L. M., & Haase, B. (2020). Mapping the genetic basis of diabetes mellitus in the Australian Burmese cat (Felis catus). Scientific Reports, 10, Article 19194. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-76166-3
- Sandøe, P., Jensen, J. B. H., Jensen, F., & Nielsen, S. S. (2019). Shelters reflect but cannot solve underlying problems with relinquished and stray animals—A retrospective study of dogs and cats entering and leaving shelters in Denmark from 2004 to 2017. Animals, 9(10), Article 765. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9100765">https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9100765</a>



- Sandøe, P., Nørspang, A. P., Forkman, B., Bjørnvad, C. R., Kondrup, S. V., & Lund, T. B. (2017). The burden of domestication: A representative study of welfare in privately owned cats in Denmark. Animal Welfare, 26(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.7120/09627286.26.1.001
- Schlesinger, D. P., & Joffe, D. J. (2011). Raw food diets in companion animals: A critical review. Canadian Veterinary Journal, 52(1), 50-54. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/issues/192648/
- Schmidt, P. M., Swannack, T. M., Lopez, R. R., & Slater, M. R. (2009). Evaluation of euthanasia and trapneuter-return (TNR) programs in managing free-roaming cat populations. Wildlife Research, 36(2), 117-125. https://doi.org/10.1071/WR08018
- Schubnel, E., & Arpaillange, C. (2008). Principaux troubles de comportement du chat confiné. Pratique Medicale et Chirurgicale de l'Animal de Compagnie, 43(2), 63-70. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anicom.2008.05.001">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anicom.2008.05.001</a>
- Seawright, A. A., English, P. B., & Gartner, R. J. W. (1967). Hypervitaminosis A and deforming cervical spondylosis of the cat. Journal of Comparative Pathology, 77(1), 19-39. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/50021-9975(67)80004-5">https://doi.org/10.1016/50021-9975(67)80004-5</a>
- Serisier, S., Feugier, A., Venet, C., Biourge, V., & German, A. J. (2013). Faster growth rate in ad libitum-fed cats: A risk factor predicting the likelihood of becoming overweight during adulthood. Journal of Nutritional Science, 2, Article 11. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1017/jns.2013.10">https://doi.org/10.1017/jns.2013.10</a>
- Sharp, T. (2012). Standard operation procedure CAT001: Ground shooting of feral cats. <a href="https://www.pestsmart.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/171215-SOP\_CAT001\_web.pdf">https://www.pestsmart.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/171215-SOP\_CAT001\_web.pdf</a>
- Sharp, T., & Saunders, G. (2012). Model code of practice for the humane control of feral cats. <a href="www.pestsmart.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2012/09/catCOP2012.pdf">www.pestsmart.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2012/09/catCOP2012.pdf</a>
- Shore, E. R., Burdsal, C., & Douglas, D. K. (2008). Pet owners' views of pet behavior problems and willingness to consult experts for assistance. Journal of Applied Animal Welfare Science, 11(1), 63-73. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/10888700701729221">https://doi.org/10.1080/10888700701729221</a>
- Simonsen, H. B., Thordal-Christensen, A. A., & Ockens, N. (1981). Carbon monoxide and carbon dioxide euthanasia of cats: Duration and animal behavior. British Veterinary Journal, 137(3), 274-278. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0007-1935(17)31688-3
- Six, R., Lindeman, C. J., Cherni, J., Chesebrough, R., Papp, G., Skogerboe, T. L., Weigel, D. J., Boucher, J., & Stegemann, M. R. (2009). Effectiveness and safety of cefovecin sodium, an extended-spectrum injectable cephalosporin, in the treatment of cats with abscesses and infected wounds. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 234(1), 81-87. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.234.1.81">https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.234.1.81</a>
- Slater, M. R., Miller, K. A., Weiss, E., Makolinski, K. V., & Weisbrot, L. A. M. (2010). A survey of the methods used in shelter and rescue programs to identify feral and frightened pet cats. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 12(8), 592-600. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfms.2010.02.001
- Sonntag, Q., & Overall, K. L. (2014). Key determinants of dog and cat welfare: Behaviour, breeding and household lifestyle. International Office of Epizootics, 33(1), 213-220. <a href="https://doi.org/10.20506/rst.33.1.2270">https://doi.org/10.20506/rst.33.1.2270</a>



- Spain, C. V., Scarlett, J. M., & Houpt, K. A. (2004). Long-term risks and benefits of early-age gonadectomy in cats. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 224(3), 372-379. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.2004.224.372">https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.2004.224.372</a>
- Sparkes, A. H., Caney, S., Chalhoub, S., Elliott, J., Finch, N., Gajanayake, I., Langston, C., Lefebvre, H. P., White, J., & Quimby, J. (2016). ISFM Consensus guidelines on the diagnosis and management of feline chronic kidney disease. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 18(3), 219-239. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X16631234">https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X16631234</a>
- Sparkes, A. H., Cannon, M., Church, D., Fleeman, L., Harvey, A., Hoenig, M., Peterson, M. E., Reusch, C. E., Taylor, S., & Rosenberg, D. (2015). ISFM consensus guidelines on the practical management of diabetes mellitus in cats. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 17(3), 235-250. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X15571880">https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X15571880</a>
- Spehar, D. D., & Wolf, P. J. (2019). Back to school: An updated evaluation of the effectiveness of a long-term trap-neuter-return program on a university's free-roaming cat population. Animals, 9(10), Article 768. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9100768">https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9100768</a>
- Špinka, M., & Wemelsfelder, F. (2011). Environmental challenge and animal agency. In M. C. Appelby (Ed.), Animal Welfare (pp.27-43). CABI. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1079/9781845936594.0027">https://doi.org/10.1079/9781845936594.0027</a>
- Steagall, P. V., Robertson, S., Simon, B., Warne, L. N., Shilo-Benjamini, Y., & Taylor, S. (2022). 2022 ISFM Consensus guidelines on the management of acute pain in cats. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 24(1), 4-30. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X211066268
- Steiger, A. (2007). Breeding and welfare. In I. Rochlitz (Ed.) The welfare Of cats (pp. 259-276). Springer. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-3227-1\_10">https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-3227-1\_10</a>
- Stella, J., & Croney, C. (2019). Coping styles in the domestic cat (Felis silvestris catus) and implications for cat welfare. Animals, 9(6), Article 370. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9060370">https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9060370</a>
- Stokke, S., Arnemo, J. M., Brainerd, S., Söderburg, A., Kraabøl, M., & Ytrehus, B. (2018). Defining animal welfare standards in hunting: Body mass determines thresholds for incapacitation time and flight distance. Scientific Reports, 8, Article 13786. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-32102-0">https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-32102-0</a>
- Stone, A. E. S., Brummet, G. O., Carozza, E. M., Kass, P. H., Petersen, E. P., Sykes, J., & Westman, M. E. (2020). 2020 AAHA/AAFP Feline vaccination guidelines. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 22(9), 813-830. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X20941784
- Stoskopf, M. K., & Nutter, F. B. (2004). Analyzing approaches to feral cat management—one size does not fit all. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 225, 1361-1964. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.2004.225.1361">https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.2004.225.1361</a>
- Strickler, B. L., & Shull, E. A. (2013). An owner survey of toys, activities, and behavior problems in indoor cats. Journal of Veterinary Behavior: Clinical Applications and Research, 9(5), 207-214. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2014.06.005">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2014.06.005</a>
- Stubbs, W P., & Bloomberg, M. S. (1995). Implications of early neutering in the dog and cat. Seminars in Veterinary Medicine and Surgery (Small Animal), 10(1), 8–12.



- Stubbs, W. P., Bloomberg, M. S., Scruggs, S. L., Shille, V. M., & Lane, T. J. (1996). Effects of prepubertal gonadectomy on physical and behavioral development in cats. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 209(11), 1864-1871.
- Stull, J. W., Bjorvik, E., Bub, J., Dvorak, G., Petersen, C., & Troyer, H. L. (2018). 2018 AAHA Infection control, prevention, and biosecurity guidelines. Journal of the American Animal Hospital Association, 54(6), 297-326. https://doi.org/10.5326/JAAHA-MS-6903
- Sturgess, K., & Hurley, K. J. (2007). Nutrition and welfare. In I. Rochlitz (Ed.) The welfare Of cats (pp. 259-276). Springer. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-3227-1\_9">https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-3227-1\_9</a>
- Sumner, C., & Rozanski, E. (2013). Management of respiratory emergencies in small animals. Veterinary Clinics of North America Small Animal Practice, 43(4), 799-815. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cvsm.2013.03.005">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cvsm.2013.03.005</a>
- Sung, W., & Crowell-Davis, S. L. (2006). Elimination behavior patterns of domestic cats (Felis catus) with and without elimination behavior problems. American Journal of Veterinary Research, 67(9), 1500-1504. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2460/ajvr.67.9.1500">https://doi.org/10.2460/ajvr.67.9.1500</a>
- Sutherland, K. A., Coe, J. B., & O'Sullivan, T. L. (2022). Assessing owners' readiness to change their behaviour to address their companion animal's obesity. Veterinary Record, 192(3), Article e1979. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/vetr.1979">https://doi.org/10.1002/vetr.1979</a>
- Swallow, J., Anderson, D., Buckwell, A. C., Harris, T., Hawkins, P., Kirkwood, J., Lomas, M., Meacham, S., Peters, A., Prescott, M., Owen, S., Quest, R., Sutcliffe, R., & Thompson, K. (2005). Guidance on the transport of laboratory animals. Report of the Transport Working Group established by the Laboratory Animal Science Association (LASA). https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1258/0023677052886493
- Tan, S. M. L., Stellato, A. C., & Niel, L. (2020). Uncontrolled outdoor access for cats: An assessment of risks and benefits. Animals, 10(2), Article 258. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ani10020258">https://doi.org/10.3390/ani10020258</a>
- Tateo, A., Nanni Costa, L., & Padalino, B. (2022). The welfare of dogs and cats during transport in Europe: A literature review. Italian Journal of Animal Science, 21(1), 539-550. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/1828051X.2022.2043194">https://doi.org/10.1080/1828051X.2022.2043194</a>
- Taylor, S., Chan, D. L., Villaverde, C., Ryan, L., Peron, F., Quimby, J., O'Brien, C., & Chalhoub, S. (2022). 2022 ISFM consensus guidelines on management of the inappetent hospitalised cat. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 24(7), 614-640. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X221106353
- Taylor, S., St Denis, K., Collins, S., Dowgray, N., Ellis, S. L. H., Heath, S., Rodan, I., & Ryan, L. (2022). 2022 ISFM/AAFP cat friendly veterinary environment guidelines. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 24(11), 1133-1163. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X221128763
- Teng, K. T., McGreevy, P. D., Toribio, J. A. L. M. L., Raubenheimer, D., Kendall, K., & Dhand, N. K. (2017). Risk factors for underweight and overweight in cats in metropolitan Sydney, Australia. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 144(1), 102-111. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prevetmed.2017.05.021">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prevetmed.2017.05.021</a>
- Teng, K. T., McGreevy, P. D., Toribio, J. A. L. M. L., Raubenheimer, D., Kendall, K., & Dhand, N. K. (2018a). Associations of body condition score with health conditions related to overweight and obesity in cats. Journal of Small Animal Practice, 59(10), 603-615. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsap.12905



- Teng, K. T., McGreevy, P. D., Toribio, J. A. L., Raubenheimer, D., Kendall, K., & Dhand, N. K. (2018b). Strong associations of nine-point body condition scoring with survival and lifespan in cats. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 20(12), 1110-1118. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X17752198">https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X17752198</a>
- van der Leij, W. J. R., Selman, L. D. A. M., Vernooij, J. C. M., & Vinke, C. M. (2019). The effect of a hiding box on stress levels and body weight in Dutch shelter cats: A randomized controlled trial. PLoS ONE, 14(10), e0223492. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0223492
- Vascellari, M., Baioni, E., Ru, G., Carminato, A., Mutinelli, F. (2009). Animal tumor registry of two provinces in northern Italy: Incidence of spontaneous tumors in dogs and cats. BMC Veterinary Research, 5, Article 39. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/1746-6148-5-39">https://doi.org/10.1186/1746-6148-5-39</a>
- Verlinden, A., Hesta, M., Millet, S., & Janssens, G. P. J. (2006). Food allergy in dogs and cats: A review. Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition, 46(3), 259-273. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/10408390591001117">https://doi.org/10.1080/10408390591001117</a>
- Veronesi, M. C., & Fusi, J. (2022). Feline neonatology: From birth to commencement of weaning what to know for successful management. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 24(3), 232-242. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X221079709">https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X221079709</a>
- Verstegen, J., & Onclin, K. (2003). Mammary tumors in the queen. Proceedings, Society for Theriogenology Annual Meeting, pp. 239-245. Columbus, OH, USA.
- Villeneuve-Beugnet, V., & Beugnet, F. (2018). Field assessment of cats' litter box substrate preferences. Journal of Veterinary Behavior, 25, 65-70. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2018.03.002">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2018.03.002</a>
- Vinke, C. M., Godijn, L. M., & van der Leij, W. J. R. (2014). Will a hiding box provide stress reduction for shelter cats? Applied Animal Behaviour Science, 160(1), 86-93. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2014.09.002">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2014.09.002</a>
- Vitale, K. R. (2018). Tools for managing feline problem behaviors: Pheromone therapy. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 20(11), 1024-1032. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X18806759">https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X18806759</a>
- Vogt, A., Rodan, I., Brown, M., & Brown, S. (2010). AAFP AAHA Feline life stage guidelines background and goals. Journal of the American Animal Hospital Association, 12(1) 43-54. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfms.2009.12.006">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfms.2009.12.006</a>
- von Heimendahl, A., & Cariou, M. (2009). Normal parturition and management of dystocia in dogs and cats. Practice, 31(6), 254-261. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1136/inpract.31.6.254">https://doi.org/10.1136/inpract.31.6.254</a>
- Wagner, D., Hurley, K., & Stavisky, J. (2018a). Shelter housing for cats: Practical aspects of design and construction, and adaptation of existing accommodation. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 20(7), 643-652. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X18781390
- Wagner, D., Hurley, K., & Stavisky, J. (2018b). Shelter housing for cats: Principles of design for health, welfare and rehoming. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 20(7), 635-642. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X18781388">https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X18781388</a>
- Wagner, D. C., Kass, P. H., & Hurley, K. F. (2018c). Cage Size, movement in and out of housing during daily care, and other environmental and population health risk factors for feline upper respiratory disease in nine North American animal shelters. PLoS One, 13(1), Article e0190140. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0190140">https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0190140</a>



- Wardley, R. C., & Povey, R. C. (1977). Aerosol transmission of feline calici viruses. An Assessment of its epidemiological importance. British Veterinary Journal, 133(5), 504-50. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/s0007-1935(17)33993-3">https://doi.org/10.1016/s0007-1935(17)33993-3</a>
- Wassink-van der Schot, A. A., Day, C., Morton, J. M., Rand, J., & Phillips, C. J. C. (2016). Risk factors for behavior problems in cats presented to an Australian companion animal behavior clinic. Journal of Veterinary Behavior: Clinical Applications and Research, 14, 34-40. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2016.06.010">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.j.jveb.2016.06.010</a>
- Watanabe, R., Doodnaught, G., Proulx, C., Auger, J. P., Monteiro, B., Dumais, Y., Beauchamp, G., Segura, M., & Steagall, P. (2019). A multidisciplinary study of pain in cats undergoing dental extractions: A prospective, blinded, clinical trial. PLoS ONE, 14(3), Article e0213195. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0213195">https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0213195</a>
- Weiss, E., Slater, M., & Lord, L. (2012). Frequency of lost dogs and cats in the United States and the methods used to locate them. Animals, 2(2), 301-315. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ani2020301">https://doi.org/10.3390/ani2020301</a>
- Wichert, B., Müller, L., Gebert, S., Wenk, C., & Wanner, M. (2007). Additional data on energy requirements of young adult cats measured by indirect calorimetry. Journal of Animal Physiology and Animal Nutrition, 91(5-6), 278-281. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0396.2007.00705.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0396.2007.00705.x</a>
- Wichert, B., Schade, L., Gebert, S., Bucher, B., Zottmaier, B., Wenk, C., & Wanner, M. (2009). Energy and protein needs of cats for maintenance, gestation and lactation. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 11(10), 808-815. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfms.2009.02.006
- Wichert, B., Signer, M., & Uebelhart, D. (2012). Cats during gestation and lactation fed with canned food ad libitum: Energy and protein intake, development of body weight and body composition. Journal of Animal Physiology and Animal Nutrition, 96(6), 1003-1011. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0396.2011.01214.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0396.2011.01214.x</a>
- Wilson, J. L., Gruffydd-Jones, T. J., & Murray, J. K. (2017). Risk factors for road traffic accidents in cats up to age 12 months that were registered between 2010 and 2013 with the UK pet cat cohort ('Bristol Cats'). Veterinary Record, 180(8), 195. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1136/vr.103859">https://doi.org/10.1136/vr.103859</a>
- Wilson, S. A., Villaverde, C., Fascetti, A. J., & Larsen, J. A. (2019). Evaluation of the nutritional adequacy of recipes for home prepared maintenance diets for cats. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 254(10), 1172-1179. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.254.10.1172">https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.254.10.1172</a>
- Winer, J. N., Arzi, B., & Verstraete, F. J. M. (2016). Therapeutic management of feline chronic gingivostomatitis: A systematic review of the literature. Frontiers in Veterinary Science, 3, Article 54. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2016.00054">https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2016.00054</a>
- Witzel-Rollins, A., Murphy, M., Springer, C. M., Moyers, T. D., & Albright, J. D. (2022). Evaluation of a pet-separating automatic feeder and high-frequency meal feeding for weight loss in multicat households. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery, 24(8), e281-e288. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X221105046">https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X221105046</a>
- World Small Animal Veterinary Association. (n.d.). The role of health-conscious breeding and genetic testing in reducing the impact of hereditary disease. <a href="https://wsava.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/WSAVA-Hereditary-Disease-Committee-Position-Paper-HDC.pdf">https://wsava.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/WSAVA-Hereditary-Disease-Committee-Position-Paper-HDC.pdf</a>



- Worksafe. (n.d.). Ammonia, anhydrous. <a href="https://www.worksafe.govt.nz/topic-and-industry/monitoring/workplace-exposure-standards-and-biological-exposure-indices/all-substances/view/ammonia-anhydrous">https://www.worksafe.govt.nz/topic-and-industry/monitoring/workplace-exposure-standards-and-biological-exposure-indices/all-substances/view/ammonia-anhydrous</a>
- Yang, C., & Huang, H. P. (2016). Evidence-based veterinary dermatology: A review of published studies of treatments for Otodectes cynotis (ear mite) infestation in cats. Veterinary dermatology, 27(4), 221-e56. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/vde.12340">https://doi.org/10.1111/vde.12340</a>
- Zaghini, G., & Biagi, G. (2005). Nutritional peculiarities and diet palatability in the cat. Veterinary Research Communications, 29(2), 39-44. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11259-005-0009-1
- Zambelli, D. (2012). Feline neonatal physiology, behavior, and socialization. In C. Lopate (Ed.), Management of pregnant and neonatal dogs, cats, and exotic pets. Wiley-Blackwell. <a href="https://www.wiley.com/en-usManagement+of+Pregnant+and+Neonatal+Dogs">https://www.wiley.com/en-usManagement+of+Pregnant+and+Neonatal+Dogs</a> % 2C+Cats % 2C+and+Exotic+Pets-p-9780813807935
- Zhang, L., & McGlone, J. J. (2020). Scratcher preferences of adult in-home cats and effects of olfactory supplements on cat scratching. Applied Animal Behaviour Science, 227, Article 104997. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2020.104997">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2020.104997</a>
- Zito, S., Morton, J., Vankan, D., Paterson, M., Bennett, P. C., Rand, J., & Phillips, C. J. C. (2016). Reasons people surrender unowned and owned cats to Australian animal shelters and barriers to assuming ownership of unowned cats. Journal of Applied Animal Welfare Science, 19(3), 303-319. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/10888705.2016.1141682">https://doi.org/10.1080/10888705.2016.1141682</a>
- Zoran, D. L. (2002). The carnivore connection to nutrition in cats. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 221(11), 1559-1567. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.2002.221.1559">https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.2002.221.1559</a>
- Zoran, D. L. (2008). Nutritional management of feline gastrointestinal diseases. Topics in Companion Animal Medicine, 23(4), 200-206. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1053/j.tcam.2008.08.003">https://doi.org/10.1053/j.tcam.2008.08.003</a>

